
PLANNING COMMITTEE

AGENDA

Date: Thursday, 21st May, 2020

Time: 1.30 pm

Venue: Remote Meeting



2

PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Information for Members of the Public

Due to the current Covid-19 pandemic Worcester City Council will be holding this meeting in 
accordance with the relevant legislative arrangements for remote meetings of a local authority. For 
more information please refer to: Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) 
(Flexibility of Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2020.

Please note that this is a public meeting, conducting remotely by videoconferencing between 
invited participants and live streamed for general access by audio via the Council’s website.

Part I of the Agenda includes items for discussion in public. You are able to listen to a live audio 
stream of the meeting via the City Council website www.worcester.gov.uk/councillors-democracy. 
You have the right to inspect electronic copies of Minutes and reports on this part of the Agenda as 
well as background documents used in the preparation of these reports. Details of the background 
papers appear at the foot of each report. An explanation to the Planning Committee decisions are 
given at the end of Part 1 of the Agenda. Part II of the Agenda (if applicable) deals with items of 
'Exempt Information' for which it is anticipated that the public may be excluded from the meeting 
and neither reports nor background papers are open to public inspection.

Members of the public and press are permitted to report on the proceedings. "Reporting" in the 
context of this remote meeting includes making an audio recording of the live streamed audio and 
providing commentary on proceedings. Any communicative method can be used to report on the 
proceedings, including the internet, to publish, post or share the proceedings.

At the start of the meeting under the item 'Public Participation' up to fifteen minutes in total is 
allowed for members of the public to present a petition, ask a question or comment on any matter 
on the Agenda. Members of the public will be allowed to address the Committee in respect of 
applications to be considered by the Committee. Participation in remote meetings will extend to 
video and/or audio participation or written submission read aloud at the appropriate point in the 
meeting by the Chairman. Participants need to indicate that they wish to take part in a 
remote meeting by 4.30 p.m. on the last working day before the meeting by telephoning 
or E-Mailing the officer mentioned below. A Democratic Services Officer will then contact 
to advise how to participate in the remote meeting, by invitation. Requests to participate 
received later than this cut-off time may not be accommodated.

If a member of the public chooses to speak at a meeting of the City Council he/she will be deemed 
to have given their consent to being recorded and audio being published live to the Council’s 
website. The Chairman of the meeting, can at their discretion, terminate or suspend recording, if in 
their opinion, continuing to do so would prejudice the proceedings of the meeting or if they 
consider that continued recording might infringe the rights of any individual, or breach any 
statutory provision.

If you have any queries about this Agenda, require any details of background papers, or wish to 
discuss the arrangements for public participation please contact Margaret Johnson, Democratic 
Services Administrator, Democratic Services, Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY  Telephone: 
01905 722085 (direct line).  E-Mail Address: 
committeeadministration@worcester.gov.uk

This agenda can be made available in large print, braille, on PC disk, tape or in a number of ethnic 
minority languages. Please contact the above named officer for further information.

http://www.worcester.gov.uk/councillors-democracy


3

Planning Committee
Thursday, 21 May 2020

Members of the Committee:-
Chairman: Councillor Chris Mitchell (C)

Vice-Chairman: Councillor Patricia Agar (LCo)

Councillor Alan Amos (C)
Councillor Bill Amos (C)
Councillor Jenny Barnes (LCo)
Councillor Roger Berry (LCo)
Councillor Marjory Bisset (G)

Councillor Chris Cawthorne (L)
Councillor Nida Hassan (C)
Councillor Jo Hodges (L)
Councillor Mike Johnson (C)

C = Conservative G = Green L = Labour LCo = Labour and Co-operative
LD = Liberal Democrat

AGENDA

Part 1
(ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION AND DECISION IN PUBLIC)

1. Appointment of Substitutes To receive details of any Member 
nominated to attend the meeting in place of 
a Member of the Committee.

2. Declarations of Interest To receive any declarations of interest.

3. Minutes of Previous Planning 
Committee 
Page(s) 1 - 10

of the meeting held on 7th May 2020 to be 
approved and signed.

4. Minutes of Previous Conservation 
Advisory Panel 
Page(s) 11 - 16

That the minutes of the Conservation 
Advisory Panel be received.

5. Public Participation Up to a total of fifteen minutes can be 
allowed, each speaker being allocated a 
maximum of five minutes, for members of 
the public to present a petition, ask a 
question or comment on any matter on the 
Agenda or within the remit of the 
Committee in accordance with Committee 
Procedure Rule 10.



4

6. Public Representation Members of the public will be allowed to 
address the Committee in respect of 
applications to be considered by the 
Committee in accordance with Committee 
Procedure Rule 11. Members of the public 
will address the Committee during the 
Committee’s consideration of the respective 
item.

7. Application 19/00820/FUL - 
Land at Hindlip Lane 
Page(s) 17 - 76
Ward(s): Claines

The Deputy Director – Economic 
Development and Planning recommends 
that the Planning Committee is minded to 
grant planning permission, subject to the 
conditions set out in section 9 of this report 
and referral to the National Planning 
Casework Unit as a departure from the 
Development Plan in accordance with the 
Town and Country Planning (Consultation) 
(England) Direction 2009.

Contact Officer: Colin Blundel, 
Planning Officer
Tel: 01905 722231

8. Applications 20/00081/CU and 
20/00095/LB - 6 St Swithin's 
Street 
Page(s) 77 - 96
Ward(s): Cathedral

The Deputy Director - Economic 
Development and Planning recommends 
that the Planning Committee grants 
planning permission subject to the 
conditions set out in section 9 of this report 
and Listed Building Consent subject to the 
conditions set out in section 10 of this 
report.

Contact Officer: Paul Collins, 
Heritage Officer
Tel: 01905 722129

9. Amendment of the Procedure for 
Receiving Late Papers 
Page(s) 97 - 98
Ward(s): All Wards

That Planning Committee agree the 
amendments to the procedure for receiving 
late papers prior to Planning Committee as 
set out in paragraph 3.1.

Contact Officer: Philippa Smith, 
Deputy Director, 
Economic 
Development and 
Planning
Tel: 01905 722527



5

10. Any Other Business Which in the opinion of the Chairman is of 
sufficient urgency as to warrant 
consideration.

PLANNING COMMITTEE DECISIONS

Having heard all submissions and debated the issues, the Planning Committee will then vote on
the application. This may be for any one of the following:

1. To approve or refuse the application in accordance with the Officer’s recommendation;
2. To defer the application for further information or negotiations to address any issues raised
during the consideration of the application. In such cases, the application will then be referred
back to the Planning Committee at a later date for a decision;
3. To delegate the final decision to Officers if the Planning Committee is satisfied that agreed
amendments would satisfy any concerns raised by the Planning Committee. If this is the case
you will not be re-consulted on the amendments or notified of changes;
4. Minded to Approve/Refuse – in cases where the Planning Committee is minded to make a
decision that is contrary to the Officer’s recommendation the application will be deferred:

Minded to Refuse – if the Planning Committee is minded to refuse an application it will be
necessary for the Planning Committee to provide full details of the grounds for their decision
to enable Officers to consider those grounds and to provide a professional opinion on the
likelihood of being able to successfully defend an appeal against the refusal of the application
on the cited grounds. . In such cases, the application will be referred back to the Planning
Committee at a later date for a decision;

Minded to Approve– if the Planning Committee is minded to approve an application it will be
necessary for the Planning Committee to give full reasons and suggest appropriate conditions
and, if necessary, draft Heads of Terms for a Section 106 Agreement. In such cases the
application will either be referred back to the Planning Committee at a later date for a
decision or delegated to Officers to issue the decision.

PLANNING COMMITTEE SITE VISITS

The Planning Committee will not undertake any site visits in accordance with government advice 
during this time.



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING COMMITTEE

7th May 2020

Present: Councillor Chris Mitchell in the Chair

Councillors A. Amos, Barnes, Berry, Bisset, 
Cawthorne, Denham, Hassan, Hodges, 
Johnson and Roberts (in place of Councillor 
B. Amos)

Also in Attendance:
Councillor Mackay

Apologies: Councillors Agar and B. Amos

162 Declarations of Interest 

The following declarations of disclosable interest were made:

Application 20/00076/HP – 146 Bath Road
(Minute No. 170)

Councillor Bisset – as a friend of the applicant.  Councillor Bisset elected not to 
speak and vote on the item and left the remote meeting during the consideration 
of the item.

Application 19/00821/FUL – Nunnery Wood High School, Spetchley Road
(Minute No. 171)

Councillor Cawthorne – as a friend of the applicant.  Councillor Cawthorne elected 
not to speak and vote on the item and left the remote meeting during the 
consideration of the item.

Councillor Hodges – daughter is a Governor at the school.  Councillor Hodges 
elected not to speak and vote on the item and left the remote meeting during the 
consideration of the item.

Councillor Mitchell – as an immediate neighbour to the application site.  Councillor 
Mitchell elected not to speak and vote on the item and left the remote meeting 
during the consideration of the item.

Councillor Roberts – had received correspondence from a resident but had not 
responded.  Councillor Roberts elected to speak and vote on the item.

163 Minutes of Previous Planning Committee 

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 23rd April 2020 be 
approved as a correct record and signed remotely by the Chairman.

164 Minutes of Previous Conservation Advisory Panel 

Page 1 Agenda Item 3



7th May 2020 2

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the Conservation Advisory Panel be 
received.

165 Public Participation 

None.

166 Public Representation 

None.  However, Councillor Mackay, as a local Ward Member, addressed the 
Committee with regard to Agenda Item 9.

167 Riverside Conservation Area Appraisal 

The Conservation Officer, presented a report on the Riverside Conservation Area 
Appraisal.

The Committee were being asked to consider that the Riverside Conservation Area 
Appraisal is adopted as a formal Council document to be used as a material 
consideration in the planning process and to consider the amendment of the 
current conservation area boundary as proposed in paragraphs 2.12, 2.13 and 
2.14 of the report. The following appendices were attached to the report:

 Appendix 1 – Response to Riverside comments; and
 Appendix 2 – Riverside Conservation Area Appraisal for adoption.

The appraisal had been subject to a six week consultation and exhibition during 
July and August 2018. All residents, businesses and land owners within the 
Conservation Area were consulted by letter and asked to submit any comments 
via an online survey.  Papers copied were also made available at the Guildhall and 
the consultation advertised in the local press.  The consultation details, full draft 
appraisal document and feedback form were also made available on the Council’s 
website.  A public exhibition was held at the Guildhall.

As a result of amendments to the appraisal a second consultation was undertaken 
to allow residents to comment on the proposed amendment to the boundary of 
the conservation area at Park View Terrace.  Public exhibitions also took place in 
January 2020.

Taking account of all comments received, the draft appraisal and management 
proposals have now been updated, also to coordinate where appropriate with the 
management proposals within the Riverside Park Management Plan. The adoption 
of the conservation area appraisal and management proposals is considered to be 
a positive move towards the management of the Riverside Conservation Area.

The Conservation Officer responded to questions from Members who 
congratulated her on an excellent appraisal document.

On being proposed and seconded the report, as recommended, was unanimously 
agreed.

Page 2



7th May 2020 3

RESOLVED: That the Committee: 

1. adopt the Riverside Conservation Area Appraisal as a material 
consideration in development management decisions; and

2. agree to the amendment of the current conservation area boundary 
as proposed in paragraphs 2.12, 2.13 and 2.14 of the report.

168 Park Avenue Conservation Area Designation and Article 4 Direction 

The Conservation Officer, presented a report on the Park Avenue Conservation 
Area designation and Article 4 Direction.

The Committee were being asked to consider that the Park Avenue Conservation 
Area be designated and that the Park Avenue Conservation Area Appraisal is 
adopted as a formal Council document to be used as a material consideration in 
the planning process. The following appendices were attached to the report:

 Appendix 1 – Article 4 Direction;
 Appendix 2 – Park Avenue Conservation Area Appraisal for adoption;
 Appendix 3 – Responses to consultation comments of 2018;
 Appendix 4 – Responses to consultation comments of 2019; and
 Appendix 5 – Park Avenue Design Guide.

The character appraisal and proposed Article 4 Direction had been subject to a six 
week consultation from 1st November until 14th December 2018. The owners or 
occupiers of all properties within the Conservation Area, and other key 
stakeholders, were consulted by letter and invited to respond on the draft 
appraisal and proposed Article 4 Direction. The consultation details, full draft 
appraisal document and survey form were made available on the Council’s website 
and the consultation was advertised in the press. Manned public exhibitions had 
also been held in various locations.

All issues raised during the consultation were considered. The adoption of the 
conservation area appraisal and the making and serving of the notice of the 
Article 4 Direction were considered to be positive moves towards the management 
of the Park Avenue Conservation Area. To support the introduction of the Article 4 
Direction a Design Guide has been produced for owners, residents and applicants.

Following the making of the Article 4 Direction a “notice” of the order will 
be published and served on all residents of the Park Avenue Conservation Area 
and a site notice displayed in at least two places in the conservation area. On the 
date the notice is first published or displayed, the Local Planning Authority will 
send a copy of the Article 4 Direction and the notice of the direction to the 
Secretary of State.  The Article 4 Direction cannot be confirmed until 28 days 
following the latest date the notice was served or published.

On being proposed and seconded the report, as recommended, was unanimously 
agreed.

RESOLVED: That the Committee:

Page 3



7th May 2020 4

1. designate the Park Avenue Conservation Area and adopt the Park 
Avenue Conservation Area Appraisal as a material consideration in 
development management decisions; and

2.  make and serve notice of an Article 4 (1) Direction for the Park 
Avenue Conservation Area.

169 Application 19/00957/FUL - Steel Barn, Middle Battenhall Farm, Upper 
Battenhall 

Introduction

The Committee considered an application for the change of use of former 
agricultural land to domestic curtilage, retention of boundary fencing, parking 
area and storage unit and installation of solar panels at Steel Barn, Middle 
Battenhall Farm, Upper Battenhall.

Reason Why Being Considered by Planning Committee

The application had been referred to Planning Committee at the request of 
Councillor Mackay on the grounds of ‘significant objection’.

Report/Background/Late Papers

The report set out the background to the proposal, the site and surrounding area, 
the proposal itself, relevant policies, planning history and representations and 
consultations where applicable.

There were no late papers circulated.

Officer Presentation

The information was presented as set out by the Deputy Director – Economic 
Development and Planning, in conjunction with a powerpoint presentation for the 
item.

Public Representations

There had been no one registered to speak on the application.  However a local 
Ward Member, Councillor Mackay addressed the Committee in support of the 
objections being made with regard to the application.

Key Points of Debate

 The local Ward Member, in addressing the Committee, referred them to 
application PRA17L14 which was granted prior approval in May 2018, 
whereby concerns had been raised at the time.  As time has gone on the 
development on site had departed from the prior approval under this 
application. He was concerned that that the original plans had not been 
followed.

Page 4



7th May 2020 5

 The local Ward Member responded to questions from Members with regard 
to the original plans and the details of the departure from these plans and 
lack of enforcement.

 The Chairman stated that developers take a risk when building without 
planning permission, others saw it as an abuse of the planning system and 
the applicants should revert to the original plans.  It was commented that 
enforcement should have been taken place when development was 
happening.

 The Development Management Team Leader responded to Members 
questions on points of clarification within the report, primarily in connection 
with the prior approval application, permitted development rights and 
retrospective applications.

 Members generally shared the concerns of the retrospective application but 
the Chairman reminded Members, that although they may not approve the 
process of how the application had come before the Committee material 
planning reasons needed to be considered.

 A proposal to refuse the application was made on the grounds of the sheer 
extent of the nature of departure from the original application which was 
out of character and unduly overbearing.  This was seconded.

The Legal Team Manager asked for clarification as to whether the application was 
‘Minded to Refuse’ and in accordance with the adopted procedure a report would 
come back to Committee on the robustness of the reasons for refusal.  The 
Chairman confirmed that this would be the case.

Having noted Members discussions the Development Management Team Leader 
had drafted out putative reasons for refusal and read this out to Members which 
was agreed.

A proposal to refuse the application had been made and this was seconded and 
there being no further points made the Chairman asked the Legal Team Manager 
to request the voting of each Member of the Committee, who were eligible to 
vote.  Following the recording of the votes the proposal was minded to refuse on 
the grounds cited.

The application to be referred back to the next available meeting in accordance 
with the adopted procedure.

Contrary to Officer recommendation it was:

RESOLVED: That the Committee is minded to refuse planning permission 
for the following reason:

In the opinion of the Local Planning Authority the proposal, by reason of 
the nature and scale of departures from the scheme granted Prior 
Approval under application reference PRA and the boundary fencing that 
has been erected, has a harmful visual impact that is out of character 
with the visual appearance of the surrounding area. 

Page 5



7th May 2020 6

The proposal would thereby also be contrary to Policy SWDP 21 of the 
South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016 and the aims and interests 
that the National Planning Policy Framework seeks to protect and 
promote.

170 Application 20/00076/HP - 146 Bath Road 

Introduction

The Committee considered a retrospective application for the demolition of an 
existing conservatory and the construction of a garden room at 146, Bath Road.

Reason Why Being Considered by Planning Committee

The application had been referred to Planning Committee in accordance with the 
adopted Scheme of Delegation on the grounds that the applicant is an elected 
Member.

Report/Background/Late Papers

The report set out the background to the proposal, the site and surrounding area, 
the proposal itself, relevant policies, planning history and representations and 
consultations where necessary.

There were no late papers circulated.

Officer Presentation

The information was presented as set out by the Deputy Director – Economic 
Development and Planning, in conjunction with a powerpoint presentation.

The Development Management Services Team Leader stated that although this 
was a retrospective application Officers had no issues with the proposal.
 
Public Representations

There had been no one registered to speak on the application.

Key Points of Debate

 In a previous application Members had already raised concerns over 
retrospective applications and those applicants, whether individuals or 
developers who flout the planning rules.

 Concerns were now raised again as the applicant for the proposal before 
them was from an elected Member of the City Council who had not followed 
the correct procedure and applied for planning permission prior to the work 
being carried out.

 Members agreed that the elected Member, a previous member of the 
Planning Committee, should have known better and were disappointed by 
what had happened.

Page 6



7th May 2020 7

 A Member suggested that Councillor Stephen may wish to consider 
reporting himself to the Standards Committee concerning his failure to 
adhere to planning regulations.

 Despite the retrospective application the Committee agreed that there were 
no planning reasons to refuse the application.

The application had been proposed and seconded and there being no 
further points made the Chairman asked the Legal Team Manager to 
request the voting of each Member of the Committee, who were eligible to 
vote.  Following the recording of the votes the proposal was agreed.

RESOLVED: That the Committee grant planning permission, subject to the 
conditions set out in paragraph 9 of the report.

171 Application 19/00821/FUL - Nunnery Wood High School, Spetchley Road 

Introduction

The Committee considered an application for the provision of a new 34 space car 
park at Nunnery Wood High School, Spetchley Road.

Reason Why Being Considered by Planning Committee

The application had been referred to the Planning Committee at the request of 
Councillor Mitchell on grounds relating to the concerns over the justification 
provided for the increase in parking and the loss of green space.

Report/Background/Late Papers

The report set out the background to the proposal, the site and surrounding area, 
the proposal itself, relevant policies, planning history and representations and 
consultations where applicable.

Since the original publication of the report on 18th March 2020 an updated report 
had been produced to address an extension of time for a decision on the 
application, issues raised by a neighbouring resident and the Officer’s response to 
those issues.  The updated report was attached as Appendix 1.

The Committee’s attention was drawn to the late papers which related to the 
following:

 Email correspondence received from a local resident with regard to the 
proposal; 

 Information from the school regarding car parking need and loss of existing 
spaces; and

 Further information from the school with regard to staff numbers and 
number of car parking spaces on the site.

Officer Presentation

The information was presented as set out by the Deputy Director – Economic 
Development and Planning, in conjunction with a powerpoint presentation.

Page 7



7th May 2020 8

Public Representations

There had been no one registered to speak on the application.

Key Points of Debate

 In response to a question from the Chairman on the assessment for car 
parking at schools the County Council Highway representative stated that 
car parking is provided for staff members and not the public i.e. 1 space 
per member of staff.  As set out in the late paper there would be 187 
members of staff on site as of 1st September 2020 which would not exceed 
the Highway Authority standards.

 Members agreed that there is a problem at the school which was 
exacerbated by the success of the sports centre and at times there was a 
need for additional parking.  It was felt that the school were taking a step 
in the right direction by requesting the additional spaces and that 
improvements were also being made to the main entrance, as set out in the 
late paper.

 Some Members, familiar with the site, stated that this was always a 
challenging area for car parking and it was right for the school to look at 
solutions.  It was commented that a better bus service would be good for 
the area.  It was noted that mitigation measures had been put in place with 
regard to some of the concerns raised by residents.

The application had been proposed and seconded and there being no further 
points made the Chairman asked the Legal Team Manager to request the voting of 
each Member of the Committee, who were eligible to vote.  Following the 
recording of the votes the proposal was unanimously agreed.

RESOLVED: That the Committee grant planning permission, subject to the 
conditions set out in paragraph 9 of the report.

172 Any Other Business 

Provision of Information by Applicants

The Chairman commented that he expects all applicants, be they private or public 
bodies, to provide relevant information to the Committee when requested and it 
was disappointing that Nunnery Wood High School had, after 2 requests, only just 
managed to provide critical information 24 hours before the Committee in the 
form of a late paper.

Late Papers

Following a debate on the issuing of late papers by Officers to Members of the 
Planning Committee, prior to the meeting, the Chairman asked the Deputy 
Director – Economic Development and Planning to look at the current policy with a 
view to bringing back a report to a future Committee for Members to review.

Page 8



7th May 2020 9

Frequency of Meetings

The Chairman agreed to keep this under review and confirmed that the next 
meeting would be in 2 weeks time on 21st May 2020.

Duration of the meeting: 1.30pm to 4.00pm

Chairman at the meeting on
21st May 2020

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



CONSERVATION ADVISORY PANEL
(Incorporating the Civic Society Development Panel)

___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________
Chairman Charles Potterton, BA DipLA CMLI

Secretary: Worcester City Council, The Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY

MINUTES OF THE REMOTE AGENDA CONSULTATION
MAY 2020 - COMMENT DEADLINE 8th MAY 2020 

Comments received
From Panel Members: 

Mr C Potterton (Chair), Mr D Saunders (Vice Chair), Mr M McCurdy, 
G Harvey

Officers: 

Dr P Collins and Mr J Dinn

117. REPORT ONLY ITEMS

i. 20/00216/ADV – 1 The Cross
Install advert panel to position of existing ATM.
No objection.

ii. 20/00050/FUL – St Clements Church, Henwick Road
Reduce number of spaces in car park approved under 
P16K0553.
No objection.

iii. 20/00268/FUL – All Saints Church, Deansway
Renewal of planning permission previously approved 
(P09D0357 and P15D0101). Erection of two porta cabins to 
provide temporary facilities including new ramp and handrail 
access
No objection.

iv. 20/00263/HP & 20/00264/LB – 6 Severn Terrace
Construction of a small porch to the rear of the property.
No objection.

MAIN AGENDA ITEMS

118. 20/00208/HP – Owl Barn, Trotshill Lane East

Page 11 Agenda Item 4



CONSERVATION ADVISORY PANEL
(Incorporating the Civic Society Development Panel)

___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________
Chairman Charles Potterton, BA DipLA CMLI

Secretary: Worcester City Council, The Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY

Replace existing 10 wooden framed windows & 3 doors with uPVC 
ones.

The Panel have no objection to the application - Approved 27 April 
2020.

119. 20/00214/FUL – Diglis Weir, adjacent to Bromwich Parade Public Right of 
Way 938 (A), near Weir Lane, Diglis

Construction of an entrance structure on top of the approved vertical 
slot fish pass, to allow improved public access to the viewing gallery.

The Panel have no objection to the application - Approved 28 April 
2020.

120. 20/00219/LB – 20 Severn Terrace

Various alteration and improvement works

The Panel were pleased with application on the whole but expressed 
the applicant may want to consider more suitable materials than uPVC 
for a listed building.

The Panel have no objection to the application.

121. 20/00235/FUL - 65 Battenhall Road

Existing loft space to be converted into an individual flat.

Panel Members expressed concern with the original plans for roof 
lighting and chimney reductions. The scheme has since been amended 
and the concerns are no longer relevant.

The Panel have no objection to the application.

122. 20/00206/HP & 20/00207/LB – 22 St Georges Square

Conversion of basement into studio and provision of two roof windows

The Panel have no objection to the application – Approved 1 May 2020.

123. 20/00224/FUL – Arch 60, Farrier Street

Page 12



CONSERVATION ADVISORY PANEL
(Incorporating the Civic Society Development Panel)

___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________
Chairman Charles Potterton, BA DipLA CMLI

Secretary: Worcester City Council, The Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY

Establish a design and fabrication workshop for bespoke furniture and 
fittings - fabrication involves wood and metal working, including 
welding time.

Panel Members commented that the application shows no details of 
dust extraction or ventilation.

The Panel have no objection to the application subject to the applicant 
following Officer recommendations.

124. 20/00228/LB – 7 Copenhagen Street

Create w/c & shower room.

Panel Members praised the clear and comprehensive heritage survey 
supplied with the application.

The Panel have no objection to the application.

125. 20/00236/LB – 31-32 High Street

Internal and external refurbishment of Costa

The Panel have no objection to the application.

126. 20/00026/FUL & 20/00027/LB – The Alma, 53 Lowesmoor

Create an independent access doorway for residential flats above The 
Alma Public Houseflats.

The Panel have no objection to the application.

127. 20/00107/FUL & 20/00108/LB – Springfield, Britannia Square

Erection of a timber framed roundhouse

The Panel have no objection to the application subject to the 
archaeological requirements set out by Officers.

128. 20/00239/FUL & 20/00240/LB – 3 The Cross

Entrance doors modified with glazed panels, and internal alterations.

Page 13



CONSERVATION ADVISORY PANEL
(Incorporating the Civic Society Development Panel)

___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________
Chairman Charles Potterton, BA DipLA CMLI

Secretary: Worcester City Council, The Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY

Panel Members supported comments made by the Archaeological 
Officer regarding poor information and lack of clarity regarding which, 
if any, of the aspects of this application are retrospective. 

Panel Members also expressed concern that no details of the design 
and materials of the spiral staircase were supplied in the application. 
The existing ground floor room has a very distinctive false ceiling and 
the design of the spiral staircase could have a significant detrimental 
impact.

The Panel have no objection to the application in principle, subject to 
details of the proposed spiral staircase.

129. 20/00241/FUL & 20/00242/ADV – 3 The Cross

Retrospective application for signage.

Panel Members had questions regarding the window stickers which Dr 
Collins was able to answer.

The Panel have no objection to the application.

130. 20/00251/FUL – 54 Foregate Street

Change of use of ground floor from estate agents to craft beer/organic 
wine lounge and coffee bar.

A Panel Member commented on the poor quality of drawings and lack 
of information supplied in the application. Dr Collins explained that the 
application was for change of use, and that the internal changes, 
which were mostly fittings, did not require expressed consent.

The Panel have no objection to the application.

131. 20/00256/HP & 20/00257/LB – 39 Britannia Square

Alterations to existing 20th c conservatory.

The Panel have no objection to the application in principle, subject to 
material conditions.

132. 20/00252/FUL – The Great Western Hotel, 8 Shrub Hill Road

Page 14



CONSERVATION ADVISORY PANEL
(Incorporating the Civic Society Development Panel)

___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________
Chairman Charles Potterton, BA DipLA CMLI

Secretary: Worcester City Council, The Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY

Replacement of 3no. approved hotel rooms with 2no. one-bed self-
contained apartments and extension to create additional one-bed 
apartment.

The Panel have no objection to the application subject to the 
archaeological requirements set out by Officers.

133. 20/00249/OUT – University Park, Bromyard Road (Large scheme)

Outline planning application for the development of up to 120 
dwellings together with access, green infrastructure and associated 
engineering works.

The Panel defer comment on the application with request to see again. 
Some concern was expressed regarding the intensity of the proposed 
development and it was felt that 100 rather than 120 residential units 
might be more appropriate. The Panel look forward to receiving details 
of the detailed scheme.

_________________________
Chairman at the meeting 
Date:

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Application Number 19/00820/FUL

Site Address Land at Hindlip Lane, Worcester

Description of 
Development

Installation of a synchronous gas-powered standby 
generation facility, ancillary infrastructure and equipment 
and access

Case Officer Colin Blundel Applicant Arlington Energy Ltd

Ward Member(s) Claines Ward Agent Aardvark EM Ltd

Reason for Referral to 
Committee

Departure from  
Development Plan 

Expiry 
Date

 30th June 2020

Key Issues The principle of development and whether the proposal 
would be sustainable form of development having regard 
to the 3 dimensions of sustainable development in terms 
of its economic role, social role and environmental role.  

Web link to application https://plan.worcester.gov.uk/Planning/Display/19/00820/FUL

Recommendation The Deputy Director – Economic Development and 
Planning recommends that the Planning Committee 
is minded to grant planning permission, subject to 
the conditions set out in section 9 of this report and 
referral to the National Planning Casework Unit as 
a departure from the Development Plan in 
accordance with the Town and Country Planning 
(Consultation) (England) Direction 2009 

1. Background

1.1 The application was registered on 22nd October 2019 and was due for a decision on 
17th December 2019. An extension of time for the determination of the application 
has been agreed until 30th June 2020 to allow determination by the Planning 
Committee and referral to the National Planning Casework Unit.

1.2 The application has been referred to the Planning Committee in accordance with the 
adopted Scheme of Delegation. 

2. The site and surrounding area 

2.1 The site is located to the north of the city centre and is in the Claines Ward. The site 
is a small green field site located on the north side of Hindlip Lane located just north 
of the Blackpole Trading Estate and covers an area of approximately 0.15ha,. The 
site is s bounded to the north by the A449 and to the east by the Worcester to 
Birmingham railway line and is currently used as grazing land for horses. Access to 
the site will be via the existing access to the site from Hindlip Lane that may need to 
be widened to facilitate the development. 

Page 17 Agenda Item 7

https://plan.worcester.gov.uk/Planning/Display/19/00820/FUL


2.2 The site is within the Green Belt and an area that is designated as Green Space in 
the South Worcestershire Development Plan. There are two Grade II listed buildings 
approximately 130m to the south west (Holy Claines Farmhouse and outbuilding 
about 11 metres south of Holy Claines Farmhouse). The site is entirely situated 
within Flood
Zone 1, which has a low probability of flooding and is located in an area for Green
Infrastructure (GI) (Mid-Worcestershire Corridor).

2.3 The surrounding character of the area is one of a mix of commercial and leisure 
uses, with scattered dwellings, the nearest of which is approximately 150m to the 
west.

3. The proposals

3.1    The proposal is to set up a new gas-powered stand-by generation facility to provide 
power to the national grid in times of emergency or high demand. The location has 
been selected to allow easy connections to the grid. The facility will also provide a 
back-up supply to support the change from generation using fossil fuels to renewable 
energy. The operator would have to bid for an annual contract from the National Grid 
to supply electricity at peak times.

3.2 The site would accommodate 3 generator units as well as 5 service buildings. Each 
generator would be 5.8m high, 3m wide and 13m long. The site would be 
surrounded by 2.4m high palisade fencing. Building mounted CCTV cameras will also 
be installed around the site to provide 24/7 security of the plant. All associated 
pipework / cable for both the gas and electricity connections will be buried 
underground.

3.3 The applicant advises that the purpose of the development is to provide additional 
power at peak times, rather than to be generating power the whole time. 

Page 18



To provide further background to this proposal, the agent has explained that the 
proposal is part of a national initiative to assist National Grid when it requires access 
to extra power in the form of either generation or demand reduction during certain 
periods of the day to manage situations where actual demand is greater than 
forecast demand and/ or unforeseen generation issues. 

3.4 It is understood that gas-fired standby generation is a contracted balancing service 
awarded by National Grid annually whereby the Service Provider delivers a 
contracted level of power when instructed by National Grid. The proposal would 
contribute to a national programme to fulfil demand for energy during peak 
electricity periods. It is understood that the proposal, unlike national energy 
generation, feeds electricity into the local electricity network at the point of 
requirement. 

3.5 The applicant has gained consent from the National Grid to be included in the next 
round of bids to be a provider of stand-by electricity generation. If their bid is 
accepted, the applicant will be contracted to supply energy to the grid at a 
contracted price as and when the National Grid determine that there is a particular 
shortage or peak in energy demand that the current grid cannot cope with. Such 
times are most likely to be at peak times, particularly in the winter, when renewable 
energy generation cannot cope with demand. For example, this could be a winters 
morning or early evening when it is dark and there is little wind such that solar and 
wind power generation is in short supply. The reason that the National Grid are 
having to grant contracts for balancing services such as this is because the country is 
moving away from coal fired power stations (for cost and climate change impact 
reasons) and until renewable energy completely fills this loss, a back-up provision is 
required. 

3.6 It is further understood that due to the small-scale of the proposal and economies of 
scale, the proposal would only be used at a time when energy supply on the grid is 
so low that the energy price is high enough for this plant to be profitable. This means 
that it will be inefficient for the plant to be operational for the majority of the time as 
energy generation on the grid at present is significantly cheaper to produce so the 
applicant would get paid less for their energy than its costs to produce. 

3.7 Should the applicant not be successful in being granted a contract for the provision 
of energy via the balancing service (which in effect gives them the comfort of a 
stand-by income), the proposal would simply be called upon by the National Grid to 
provide energy at times of needs and would only be switched on at such a time that 
the price offered for the energy production makes the plant profitable. Again 
however, this would only be at a time that the National Grid determines that there is 
a need for additional energy/current energy generation is inadequate to meet 
demand. 

3.8 The application therefore seeks to maintain power supplies at peak times when 
capacity is marginal, whilst off-setting the decline in traditional power sources and 
supporting the development of a low carbon economy addressing short-term 
fluctuations in supply whilst the UK transitions from fossil fuels to low-carbon energy 
generation. 

Page 19



2.5MW Generator

3.9    The application is accompanied by a full set of plans together with a suite of 
supporting documents that include: Planning, Design & Access Statement; Air 
Quality Assessment; Preliminary Ecological Assessment; Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment, and; Site Selection Statement.

3.10 In accordance with Article 15 (7) of The Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), full details of the 
application have been published on the Council’s website. As such, Members will 
have had the opportunity to review the submitted plans and documents in order to 
familiarise themselves with the proposals prior to consideration and determination of 
the application accordingly.

4. Planning Policy 

4.1 The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (‘the Act’) establishes the legislative 
framework for consideration of this application. Section 70(2) of the Act requires the 
decision-maker in determining planning applications/appeals to have regard to the 
Development Plan, insofar as it is material to the application/appeal, and to any 
other material consideration. Where the Development Plan is material to the 
development proposal it must therefore be taken into account.  Section 38(6) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires the application/appeal to be 
determined in accordance with the Plan, unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.

4.2 The Development Plan for Worcester now comprises:

 The South Worcestershire Development Plan (SWDP) which was adopted 
February 2016, and;

 The Worcestershire Waste Core Strategy, which was adopted on December 2012. 

 4.3    The following policies of the SWDP are considered to be relevant to the proposal:

Page 20



SWD Policy 1:   Overarching Sustainable Design Principles
SWD Policy 2:   Development Strategy and Settlement Hierarchy
SWD Policy 5:   Green Infrastructure
SWDP Policy 6: Historic Environment
SWDP Policy 21: Design
SWDP Policy 24: Management of the Historic Environment
SWD Policy 25: Landscape Character
SWD Policy 27: Renewable and Low Carbon Energy
SWD Policy 29: Sustainable Drainage Systems
SWD Policy 31: Pollution and Land Instability
SWD Policy 38: Green Space

The Waste Core Strategy for Worcestershire - Adopted Waste Local Plan 
2012-2027 

4.4      The Waste Local Plan was adopted by Worcestershire County Council on 15th 
November 2012 and is a plan outlining how to manage all the waste produced in 
Worcestershire up to 2027. The following policies are relevant to this application: 

WCS1   (Presumption in favour of sustainable development) 
WCS3   (Re-use and recycle)
WCS17 (Making provision for waste in new development)

Material Considerations

1. National Planning Policy Framework

4.5 The latest version of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published 
and came into effect in February 2019. The NPPF sets out the Government's planning 
policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. It constitutes 
guidance for local planning authorities and decision takers and is a material planning 
consideration in determining planning applications. 

4.6 The NPPF outlines a series of considerations against which delivering sustainable 
development should be assessed. The Government believes that sustainable 
development can play three critical roles in England: an economic role, contributing 
to a strong, responsive, competitive economy; a social role, supporting vibrant and 
healthy communities; and an environmental role, protecting and enhancing our 
natural, built and historic environment.

4.7 Paragraph 38 of the NPPF encourages Local Planning Authorities to approach decision 
taking in a positive way and to foster the delivery of sustainable development. Local 
Planning Authorities are advised to approach decisions on proposed development in 
a positive and creative way. They should use the full range of planning tools 
available, including brownfield registers and permission in principle, and work 
proactively with applicants to secure developments that will improve the economic, 
social and environmental conditions of the area. Decision-makers at every level 
should seek to approve applications for sustainable development where possible.

4.8 Chapter 13 sets out the Government’s policies towards protecting Green Belt land. 
The proposal by definition is considered inappropriate development and is thereby 
restricted under the provisions of the NPPF.

Page 21

https://www.swdevelopmentplan.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/05/SWDP_24_AdoptedSWDP.pdf


4.9 Paragraph 148 sets out that the planning system should support the transition to a 
low carbon future in a changing climate and it should help minimise vulnerability and 
improved resilience.

4.10 Paragraph 153 states that local planning authorities should expect new 
development to comply with any development plan policies on local requirements 
for decentralised energy supply and to take account of landform, layout, building 
orientation, massing and landscaping.

4.11 Paragraph 170 states that Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and 
enhance the natural and local environment by:

a) protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, sites of biodiversity or geological 
value and soils (in a manner commensurate with their statutory status or 
identified quality in the development plan);

b) recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, and the wider 
benefits from natural capital and ecosystem services–including the economic and 
other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land, and of trees and 
woodland;

c) minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity, including by 
establishing coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current and 
future pressures;

d) preventing new and existing development from contributing to, being put at 
unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of 
soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability. Development should, 
wherever possible, help to improve local environmental conditions such as air 
and water quality, taking into account relevant information such as river basin 
management plans.

4.12 Paragraph 180 states that planning policies and decisions should also ensure that 
new development is appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects 
(including cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural 
environment, as well as the potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to 
impacts that could arise from the development.

4.13 Paragraph 181 states that “planning policies and decisions should sustain and 
contribute towards compliance with relevant limit values or national objectives for 
pollutants, taking into account the presence of Air Quality Management Areas and 
Clean Air Zones, and the cumulative impacts from individual sites in local areas. 
Opportunities to improve air quality or mitigate impacts should be identified, such 
as through traffic and travel management, and green infrastructure provision and 
enhancement. So far as possible these opportunities should be considered at the 
plan-making stage, to ensure a strategic approach and limit the need for issues to 
be reconsidered when determining individual applications. Planning decisions 
should ensure that any new development in Air Quality Management Areas and 
Clean Air Zones is consistent with the local air quality action plan”.

2. National Policy Statement for Energy

4.14 The Overarching National Policy Statement for Energy (EN-1) contains an important 
statement in paragraph 3.3.11 regarding “The need for more electricity capacity to 
support an increased supply from renewables” it states:

Page 22



“An increase in renewable electricity is essential to enable the UK to meet its 
commitments under the EU Renewable Energy Directive.   It will also help improve 
our energy security by reducing our dependence on imported fossil fuels, decrease 
greenhouse gas emissions and provide economic opportunities. However, some 
renewable sources (such as wind, solar and tidal) are intermittent and cannot be 
adjusted to meet demand. As a result, the more renewable generating capacity we 
have the more generation capacity we will require overall, to provide back-up at 
times when the availability of intermittent renewable sources is low…. If fossil fuel 
plant remains the most cost-effective means of providing such back-up, particularly 
at short notice, it is possible that even when the UK’s electricity supply is almost 
entirely decarbonised we may still need fossil fuel power stations for short periods 
when renewable output is too low to meet demand”.

4.15 In paragraph 3.3.12 it states:

“It is therefore likely that increasing reliance on renewables will mean that we need 
more total electricity capacity than we have now, with a larger proportion being built 
only or mainly to perform back-up functions”

4.16 In paragraph 3.3.31 regarding the ‘More Intelligent use of Electricity’:

‘The Government expects that demand side response, storage and interconnection, 
will play important roles in a low carbon electricity system, but still envisages back 
up capacity being necessary to ensure security of supply until other storage 
technologies reach maturity’.

4.17 It goes onto say more specifically in paragraph 3.6.2 that:

‘Gas will continue to play an important role in the electricity sector – providing vital 
flexibility to support an increasing amount of low-carbon generation and to maintain 
security of supply’ and in paragraph 3.8.8 that it is ‘clear that there must be some 
fossil fuel generating capacity to provide back-up for when generation from 
intermittent renewable generating  capacity is  low  and  to  help  with  the  
transition  to  low  carbon electricity generation’.

4.18 The National Policy Statement for Fossil Fuel electricity generating (EN-2) further 
highlights the role for fossil fuel electricity generation in supporting a diverse energy 
mix as the UK makes its transition towards a secure decarbonised electricity system.

3.  Noise Policy Statement for England, 
2010

4.19 The underlying principles and aims of existing noise policy documents, legislation 
and guidance are clarified in DEFRA: 2010: Noise Policy Statement for England 
(NPSE) 2. The NPSE sets out the “Long Term Vision” of Government noise policy as 
follows:

“Promote good health and good quality of life through the effective management of 
noise within the context of Government policy on sustainable development”.

4.20 The NPSE outlines three aims for the effective management and control of 
environmental, neighbour and neighbourhood noise:

 “Avoid significant adverse impacts on health and quality of life;

Page 23



 Mitigate and minimise adverse impacts on health and quality of life; and
 Where possible, contribute to the improvement of health and quality of life”.

4.21 The guidance states that it is not possible to have a single objective noise-based 
measure that defines “Significant Observed Adverse Effect Level (SOAEL)” that is 
applicable to all sources of noise in all situations and that not having specific 
SOAEL values in the NPSE provides the necessary policy flexibility until further 
evidence and suitable guidance is available.

4. National Planning Practice Guidance 

4.22 On 6th March 2014 the Government also published National Planning Practice 
Guidance (NPPG) that has been updated in the meantime and comprises, amongst 
other matters: Air Quality, Design, Determining a planning application, Flood Risk 
and Coastal Change, Health and Wellbeing, Natural Environment, Noise, Public 
Rights of Way and Local Green Space Viability, and Use of Planning Conditions.

5. Supplementary Planning Documents

4.23 The following Supplementary Planning Documents are relevant to the application 
proposals:-

 Design Quality SPD

The Design Quality SPD was adopted on 5th March 2018 and replaces the previous 
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note 3: Design (SPG3). Both documents 
encourage high standards of design for development proposals in accordance with 
the aims and interests that the NPPF seeks to protect and promote in this regard. 
The Design Quality SPD is consistent with the planning policies in the SWDP. 

6. Other Considerations

4.23 The UN Climate Change Conference in Paris 2015 agreed that to limit significant 
impacts resulting from global warming, the amount of global warming would need to 
be limited to a global increase of 1.5 degrees C. In response to this, the 
Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) has published a report (6 
October 2018), to establish the rapid and far-reaching changes which are required to 
meet this target. In the report the IPCC has stated that, amongst other significant 
transitions, a total share of 97% of power will be required to be generated from 
renewables by 2050. 

4.24 The UK’s commitment to the 2015 Paris Agreement and its long-term objective of a 
2050 decarbonised economy makes the transition to a decarbonised energy system 
essential. In response, the Government published a Clean Growth Strategy in 
October 2017 focussing on growing national income whilst ensuring cutting 
greenhouse gas emissions. The strategy recognises that the means by which energy 
is generated in the UK is changing and that complementary mechanisms such as 
energy storage will play a vital future role. 

4.25 Combined with the phased closure of large-scale centralised fossil fuel and older 
nuclear power stations, we are seeing the development of widespread smaller scale 
decentralised generation with an increasing contribution to the UK generation mix 
from intermittent renewable energy generators. 

Page 24



4.26 The demand for electricity is also changing with energy management technologies 
and smart metering systems helping to reduce and control energy demand and use. 
There is also greater demand linked to the desire to move to electrified transport. 
These changes to the supply and demand for electricity create new challenges for 
National Grid. To operate the electricity system, generation and demand must be 
balanced on a second by second basis. 

4.27 National Grid is using new tools to manage a system that increasingly relies on 
intermittent sources of energy, such as wind and solar, in addition to more 
predictable generation from power stations. This core challenge is recognised at the 
heart of the UK government’s recent Industrial Strategy which states that ‘A national 
electricity grid was a great British technical achievement. Now we are setting 
ourselves the challenge of remodelling it so it can handle many different sources of 
clean energy, and use new technologies to store energy and manage demand.’

4.28 Also to note are the latest reports produced by the Committee on Climate Change 
‘Net Zero, The UK’s contribution to stopping global warming’ (May 2019), that 
electricity systems need to match electricity supply to electricity demand in real-
time. As more weather-dependent sources of electricity supply come online, such as 
solar and wind technologies, matching supply to demand can become more 
challenging. Separately, new electrified demands from electric vehicles and heat 
pumps can offer opportunities to make use of variable renewable supply. Both would 
benefit from increased system flexibility. As such, there may be periods where 
electricity demand is high and renewable output is low, meaning backup capacity 
may need to be installed, to ensure demand can always be met. Similarly, 
generation facilities may need to be held in reserve to balance short-term variations 
in renewable output or changes in electricity demand. The report goes on to state 
that:

‘Improvements in system flexibility can come from increased deployment of battery 
storage, interconnection and fast-response gas plant as well as demand-side 
management and improvements in system operation’. 

4.29 The National Grid has also released a report on ‘Delivering our environmental future’ 
(August 2019). This report is the National Grid Electricity Transmission (NGET) 
executive-level annual statement for the Environmental Discretionary Reward (EDR). 
The report outlines:

‘The transmission infrastructure that we build and maintain is essential in the 
transition to a decarbonised electricity system. Over the next decade, we will lose 
existing generation capacity as old and more polluting plants close. Our responsibility 
is to accommodate increasing levels of renewables and other generation by 
optimising electricity network capacity’. 

4.30 This development is one of many proposed nationally to address the capacity 
shortfalls in the grid due to peak demands, the unpredictability of renewable energy 
and the inability for large centralised power stations to react quickly. There are a 
number of appeal decisions where Inspectors have both allowed and dismissed 
appeals for these facilities. Whilst they provide a useful context, nevertheless it is a 
basic principle that each case must be assessed on its individual merits with regard 
to the particular circumstances of the site, Development Plan policies and material 
considerations. 

Page 25



7. Case Law 

4.31 Consideration of Development Plan policies is not a legalistic forensic exercise.  Often 
policies will pull in different directions.  Decision makers need to consider whether 
the proposal broadly accords with those policies as confirmed in the case of R. on the 
application of Laura Cummins and London Borough of Camden, SSETR and Barrett 
Homes Limited [2001] in which Ouseley J. cited R. v Rochdale MBC ex parte Milne 
[2000].  As Sullivan J. said in the Milne case 48. “It is not at all unusual for 
development plan policies to pull in different directions.  A proposed development 
may be in accord with development plan policies which, for example, encourage 
development for employment purposes, and yet be contrary to policies which seek to 
protect open countryside.  In such cases there may be no clear cut answer to the 
question: “is this proposal in accordance with the plan?”  The local authority has to 
make a judgement bearing in mind such factors as the importance of the policies 
which are complied with or infringed, and the extent of compliance or breach.”

4.32 Citing City of Edinburgh Council v. Secretary of State for Scotland [1997] Sullivan J. 
went on to say that “I regard it as untenable to say that if there is a breach of any 
one policy in a development plan, a proposed development cannot be said to be “in 
accordance with the plan”. Given the numerous conflicting interests that 
development plans seek to reconcile: the needs for more housing, more 
employment, more leisure and recreational facilities, for improved transport facilities, 
the protection of listed buildings and attractive landscapes et cetera, it would be 
difficult to find any project of any significance that was wholly in accord with every 
relevant policy in the development plan. Numerous applications would have to be 
referred to the Secretary of State as departures from the development plan because 
one or a few minor policies were infringed, even though the proposal was in 
accordance with the overall thrust of development plan policies.  For the purposes of 
section 54A it is enough that the proposal accords with the development plan when 
considered as a whole. It does not have to accord with each and every policy 
therein.”

5.     Planning History

5.1 There are no previous applications of relevance to the current proposals.  

6.      Consultations

6.1 Formal consultation, including display of site notices, has been undertaken in respect 
of the application. The following comments from statutory and non-statutory 
consultees and interested third parties have been received in relation to the original 
and amended proposals and are summarised as follows:

Neighbours and other third party comments: 

One objection has been received from the occupant of ‘The Bee Hives’, Hindlip Lane 
on the following grounds:

“A There are already more than enough Noise and Emissions from the Industrial 
estate in Hindlip Lane already! Without having another source to add to the already 
polluted Air in this area. 

B There is already a small Power Station on the Blackpole Road .. common sense says 
for it to be placed there does it not? 

Page 26



C note that the intended Application is for a large expanse to be used to site this this 
Generator in the nearby field to me .. which would be taking away Wildlife, Open 
Fields and hedgerow to what is presently a country lane. 

D The Company who are requesting this planning did do a sound test check, a few 
weeks ago .. at my adjoining neighbours garden.. this apparently was done hidden 
down in a corner behind the tall conifer trees! Without any doubt giving them! a 
satisfactory reading, when in fact the true real reading has been hidden!”

Worcester City Council Archaeological Officer: No objection, subject to 
recommended conditions.

Worcester City Council Landscape and Biodiversity Adviser: Objects on grounds 
that Green Belt and Green Space policies do not support the proposed development 
and comments on the lack of biodiversity enhancement proposals. 

Worcestershire County Council (Highway Authority): Following receipt of 
requested details of the access construction, width and radii, vehicle tracking for the 
largest vehicle which will be accessing the site and provision of visibility splays, the 
Highway Authority has no objection, subject to a recommended condition.
. 
Worcestershire Regulatory Services:  No objection in respect of air quality or 
noise impacts.

Health and Safety Executive: No comments as the site does not fall within the 
safeguarding zones of a HSE licensed explosives site.

6.2 Members have been given the opportunity to read all representations that have been 
received in full. At the time of writing this report no other consultation responses 
have been received. Any additional responses received will be reported to members 
verbally or in the form of a late paper, subject to the date of receipt. 

6.3 In assessing the proposal due regard has been given to local residents comments as 
material planning considerations. Nevertheless, I am also mindful that decisions 
should not be made solely on the basis of the number of representations, whether 
they are for or against a proposal. The Localism Act has not changed this, nor has it 
changed the advice that local opposition or support for a proposal is not in itself a 
ground for refusing or granting planning permission unless it is founded on valid 
planning reasons.

7. Comments of Deputy Director - Economic Development and Planning

7.1 Policy SWDP1 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan sets out overarching 
sustainable development principles and these are consistent with the Framework. 
The various impacts of the development have to be assessed and the benefit and 
adverse impacts considered, establishing whether what is proposed is sustainable 
development. Taking the above matters into account I consider the main issues 
raised by the proposal relate to the principle of development and whether the 
development would be sustainable, having regard to the 3 dimensions of 
sustainability set out in the Framework: economic, social and environmental, in 
particular with regard to:

1.  The economic role

Page 27



2.  The social role:

- residential amenity

3.  The environmental role:

- heritage assets
- impact on green space/ green infrastructure
- ecology & wildlife
- design and appearance
- access and highway safety
- air quality 
              

These issues will now each be considered in turn. 

The Principle of Development

7.2 Paragraph 133 of the NPPF confirms that the key features of Green Belts are their 
openness and permanence. Paragraph 134 of the NPPF states the five purposes of 
the Green Belt as follows –

a) to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas; 
b) to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;
c) to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;
d) to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and
e) to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other 

urban land.

7.3 The key paragraph of relevance to this case is paragraph 143:
 

Inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should 
not be approved except in very special circumstances.

7.4 This is followed by paragraph 144:
 

When considering any planning application, local planning authorities should ensure 
that substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt. ‘Very special 
circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of 
inappropriateness, and any other harm resulting from the proposal, is clearly 
outweighed by other considerations.

7.5 The first consideration in assessing the application is to consider whether the 
proposed development constitutes ‘inappropriate development’. Paragraph 145 of 
the NPPF states that construction of new buildings in the Green Belt is inappropriate 
development unless it is included in a list of exceptions. Having reviewed the list of 
exceptions, I do not consider that any of them apply in this case. This view is 
supported by comments received from the Planning Policy Team. The development 
is, therefore inappropriate development and, by definition, harmful to the Green 
Belt.

7.6 Policy SWDP2 Section E of the South Worcestershire Development Plan states – 

The West Midlands Green Belt will be maintained and development proposed within 
the Green Belt will be considered in accordance with national policy as set out in the 

Page 28



Framework. Development at the Major Developed Sites (listed in Table 3 below) will 
be limited to within their site boundaries as set out on the Policies Map and will be 
restricted to limited infilling and the redevelopment of previously developed land. 
Development proposals within a Major Developed Site boundary should not have any 
greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt and the purposes of including land 
within it than the existing development.

7.7 In order to assess the application against Green Belt policy it is necessary to carry 
out a balancing exercise to assess the harm against the benefits of the scheme and 
assess whether very special circumstances exist. This is based on the evidence 
provided with the application and a site visit. In such cases, the onus is on the 
applicant to provide the evidence in favour of the proposal and to show that this 
‘clearly outweighs’ the harm to the Green Belt.

7.8 In assessing the harm to the Green Belt, I have firstly considered whether this part 
of the Green Belt is serving the five purposes set out in the NPPF. A Green Belt 
Study was undertaken as part of the current review of the South Worcestershire 
Development Plan, which assessed the Green Belt by land parcels. However, the site 
is part of a narrow strip of land which was excluded from the Green Belt Study and is 
located just outside land parcel S12. 

Green Belt Study Part 1 – Appendix A, page A175

7.9 Nevertheless, the application has to be assessed as the development of an open 
field. Placing new buildings on undeveloped land in the Green Belt will clearly have a 
negative impact on openness. Given the national importance attributed to Green 
Belts, I have to give this harm substantial weight against the development proposal.

7.10 The assessment of the impact to the Green Belt is therefore a stepped process in 
that: 

 A proposal needs to be considered in terms of whether the development is 
inappropriate, and then; 

 Whether it harms the openness of the Green Belt. 

Page 29



If a development conflicts with either assessment then consideration has to be given 
as to whether there are any ‘very special circumstances’ that would outweigh this 
harm. 

Is the proposal inappropriate? 

7.11 Paragraph 145 advises that a local planning authority should regard the construction 
of new buildings as inappropriate development in the Green Belt except for a number 
of strictly defined purposes. Paragraph 146 goes on to define other forms of 
development that are not inappropriate. Paragraph 147 specifically refers to 
proposals for renewable energy projects stating that when located in the Green Belt, 
elements of many renewable energy projects will comprise inappropriate 
development. It goes on to say that in such cases developers will need to 
demonstrate very special circumstances if projects are to proceed. Such very special 
circumstances may include the wider environmental benefits associated with 
increased production of energy from renewable sources. However, the decision of 
the Secretary of State on an appeal concerning a large solar farm in Suffolk 
(APP/T3535/A/13/2193543), and the letter of 16 October 2013 by the  then Minister 
of State at the Department of Energy and Climate Change, (The Rt Hon Gregory 
Barker MP), has concluded that “renewable energy projects are not prohibited 
outright in the Green Belt. It is, as ever, a matter of balancing any benefits they 
would bring forward, against any harm they would cause”. But LPAs should ensure 
that substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt 
(APP/CS105/A/13/2207532). 

7.12 The Government's 'Energy Security Strategy' states that it is essential that a robust 
strategy is in place to maintain the energy security needed for domestic and 
business consumers in the UK. This means providing the energy services they need, 
at prices that avoid excessive volatility whilst delivering the Government's 
'Overarching National Policy Statement for Energy (EN-1 )'. EN-1 demonstrates that 
energy is vital to economic prosperity and social well-being and that it is important 
to ensure that the UK has secure and affordable energy. 

7.13 The proposal would rely on a non-renewable energy source to provide energy to the 
National Grid. However, flexible peaking power generation capacity specifically forms 
part of the renewable energy infrastructure being developed to meet the UK’s 
obligations under the EU Renewable Energy Directive, because renewable sources 
are supplies that are dependent on the time of day and weather conditions.  Peaking 
power generation forms an important part of balancing services procured by the 
National Grid for it to balance demand and supply, and to ensure security and quality 
of electricity supplies.. 

7.14 Whilst renewable energy provides a low carbon option, its generation is intermittent. 
The larger the difference between available capacity and demand, the more resilient 
the system will be in dealing with unexpected events, and consequently the lower 
the risk of a supply interruption. This helps protect businesses and consumers from 
rising and volatile prices and, eventually, from physical interruptions to supplies that 
might impact on essential services. 

7.15 The proposed peaking plant would be to provide back-up generation capacity
and would not be in continuous operation. It is designed to specifically work around 
renewables and to support the system when renewable generation levels decline. 

Page 30



It is recognised in the electricity industry that combined carbon emissions from 
peaking plants, along with renewable sites can provide very low carbon power 
therefore peaking plants of this nature are categorised as low carbon energy 
'associated infrastructure', as supported by paragraph 148. 

7.16 In so far as the proposal is required to provide greater capacity and flexibility in the 
energy generation network the proposed generators could be described as 
‘associated infrastructure’ that would support the move towards low carbon energy 
supplied increasingly by renewable energy developments.  .  

7.17 Taking the above into account, officers are of the view that on balance it is not
unreasonable to conclude that the proposed development would constitute
development required for the exploitation of sources of renewable energy. The 
proposed development would be environmentally sustainable in so far as it would 
support the move towards low carbon energy supplied by renewable energy 
developments and would have a limited operational life. 

7.18 In my view, the proposal is inappropriate development but is not prohibited outright 
and the planning balance will come into play depending on the special circumstances 
demonstrated. 

Does it harm openness? 

7.19 Paragraph 133 of the NPPF tells us that openness is an essential characteristic of the 
Green Belt. Openness is generally defined as the absence of built form. This does not 
depend on visibility; even if a site is well screened the impact on openness is the 
same. As a man-made imposition on the landscape, the facility, fencing and 
infrastructure would obviously reduce openness, and this would add to the harm to 
the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness. 

7.20 Where development is inappropriate or when it harms openness, it is necessary to 
demonstrate that the harm by reason of inappropriateness is outweighed by other 
factors (NPPF paragraph 144). Special circumstances may include the wider 
environmental benefits associated with low carbon energy solutions. In addition, any 
landscape impacts of the development need to be made acceptable by appropriate 
landscaping.

7.21   In this respect, and with regard to the neighbouring residents’ concerns regarding 
the siting of the proposed development, the applicant has submitted a Site Selection 
Statement to set out the approach to site selection which, due to the nature of the 
proposed development, is primarily focused on the site’s location relative to the local 
gas transmission network and the local distributive electricity network. The location 
of the electricity substation is approx. 850m south east of the site, with the gas 
connection being located 105m to the east. A copy is attached as Appendix 1. 

7.22 A statement has also been submitted to augment the Planning, Design and Access 
Statement to demonstrate that very special circumstances exist such that 
‘inappropriate development’ (as defined in paragraph 143 in the NPPF) would be 
acceptable within the Green Belt. A copy is attached as Appendix 2.

7.23 Section 13 of the NPPF (para 147) states that very special circumstances may 
include the wider environmental benefits associated with increased benefits from 
renewable energy sources. The special circumstances in this case are:

Page 31



 The site will be decommissioned after 25 years, with all infrastructure removed 
from the site, and the site restored to its original condition;

 The site has to be located within close proximity to the gas and grid connection 
points. There are very few sites available next to sub stations with capacity. A 
site such as this is important as it has a secured connection offer from the local 
District Network Operator (DNO) and gas supply;

 The  development  does  not  contain  any  permanent  buildings,  and  only  
provides  small temporary ancillary structures such as the generators, a DNO 
station and private switchgear station housings and transformers and a perimeter 
fence;

 The site is well sited against the A449 and railway line and is well screened from 
the wider landscape, such that its impact on landscape openness is minimal;

 The development provides essential infrastructure to ensure security of supply as 
outlined above;

 The development would constitute development required for the exploitation of 
sources of renewable energy.

7.24 The proposals would provide a source of ‘localised’ power generation for the area, 
meaning that in the event of supply interruptions or surges in demand, the local area 
would continue to be served. This type of localised generation also has a significant 
advantage over larger scale, more centralised generation in terms of minimising 
electricity transmission losses as it provides power closer to where it is required. 

7.25 National Planning Policy Statement EN-1, the Overarching National Policy Statement 
for Energy emphasises the importance of decentralised energy systems for energy 
security and the need to increase electricity capacity within the system, including 
technology which can support the growth of low carbon energy generation sources. 
Section 10 of the NPPF states that, when determining planning applications, local 
planning authorities should:

 not require applicants for energy development to demonstrate the overall need 
for renewable or low carbon energy and also recognise that even small-scale 
projects provide a valuable contribution to cutting greenhouse gas emissions; and

 approve the application (unless material considerations indicate otherwise) if its 
impacts are (or can be made) acceptable

7.25 Within the policies set out in the local development plan, Policy SWDP 27 supports 
renewable and low carbon energy generation development.

7.26 Substantial weight is given in the NPPF to the harm that the proposal would have on 
the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness and a limited loss of openness. 
However, it is considered that the substantial weight should also be attributed to the 
social, economic and environmental benefits of the development as they relate to the 
management, security and reliability of energy, coupled with the proximity of the site 
to an existing substation and gas connection with available capacity. 

7.27 Taking these matters into account, I consider that although there would be some 
harm to the Green Belt by the introduction of the proposed development, 
nevertheless on balance the applicant has demonstrated very special circumstances 
such that the proposed development would not be entirely unacceptable in principle.

  Sustainable Development 

1. The economic role

Page 32



7.28 In the short term, the proposed development would provide and support 
employment during construction and installation, and during operation and 
maintenance of the equipment. A good and consistent supply of energy is also vital 
for wider economic growth. In my opinion, this weighs in favour of granting planning 
permission.

2. The social role 

7.29 The key aim is to provide a source of ‘localised’ power generation for the area, 
meaning that in the event of supply interruptions or surges in demand, the local area 
would continue to be served. As a consequence, the scheme has an important social 
role which weighs in favour of granting planning permission. However, one must also 
consider the impact of the development on nearby residents.

Residential Amenity

7.30 The site lies opposite residential properties and next to a children’s day nursery. 
Policy SWDP 21 requires that new development does not have a significant adverse 
effect on neighbouring amenity. This is consistent with the NPPF that requires 
planning policies and decisions, amongst other matters, to ensure a high standard of 
amenity for existing and future users of land and buildings. 

7.31 A neighbouring resident has raised concerns regarding, amongst other matters, 
noise from the proposed generators. In this regard. The introduction of the proposed 
development could give rise to potential noise and disturbance for the occupiers of 
the surrounding properties as a result of the introduction of the proposed 
development. A noise assessment has been submitted with the application. The 
assessment considers the potential noise generation from the plant associated with 
the proposed development, with respect to existing sound levels in the area.

7.32 In summary, the assessment identifies that the proposed development will give rise 
to rating noise levels that are typically below the measured background sound level 
in the area, during the daytime, at the closest assessed residential receptors, thus 
giving rise to a Low Impact. During the night-time, the assessment identifies that 
the proposed development will give rise to rating noise levels that are above the 
measured background sound level in the area at the closest assessed residential 
receptors, but this covers a scenario only likely to occur under an extreme power 
shortage or emergency, lights out scenario. The assessment also identifies that no 
significant change in ambient sound level will be engendered as a result of the 
proposed development in its proposed and assessed form, at the closest residential 
receptors, during the day or night.

7.33 The facility will be designed, constructed and maintained to ensure that during the 
day time operation 07:00-23:00 the rating level does  not  exceed the background 
noise level at any residential receptor. Night time operation, 23:00 – 07:00, of the 
facility will be limited to emergency situations as defined by the National Grid.

7.34 Consequently, the assessment demonstrates that the proposed development will 
give rise to noise impacts that would be categorised as ‘no-observed-adverse-effect-
level’ (NOAEL) within the NPPG England guidance. The neighbouring resident has 
also raised concerns regarding the locations used for the readings taken to inform 
the assessment. Worcestershire Regulatory Services has been consulted accordingly 
and is satisfied with the report and has no objection to this aspect of the proposals. 

Page 33



On this basis, I am satisfied that the proposal would therefore accord with avoiding 
significant adverse impacts on noise in accordance with policy SWDP 31 of the South 
Worcestershire Development Plan (2016). 

7.35 The movement of construction and related traffic and from construction works could 
also give rise to potential noise and disturbance for the occupiers of the surrounding 
properties. However, it is important to recognise that the movement of traffic will 
not be constant during construction works. There will inevitably be higher volumes at 
the start when material from the site preparation works is excavated and removed 
from site and from the delivery of construction materials and workers vehicles. There 
will be peaks and troughs of movements through the construction period and as a 
result the risks and management will alter during this period.

7.36 Consideration also needs to be given to potential mitigation measures which may be 
used to reduce the impact on local residents. As noted above, disturbance during 
construction is to be expected and is not normally a material planning consideration 
as this would not be permanent. Nevertheless, it is possible to reduce the degree of 
intrusion during this time. For example, a construction environment management 
plan (CEMP) to specify working hours and delivery times, parking for operatives 
vehicles, how operations will be undertaken during the construction phase, the 
sequence that would be undertaken for construction and the envisaged construction 
period. In setting these controls the impact on the amenity of the neighbours would 
be reduced to a minimum during the construction period and can reasonably be 
secured by way of an appropriately worded planning condition. 

7.37 Whilst I accept that there would be some impact upon amenity from noise associated 
with construction traffic, nevertheless this must be balanced against the duration of 
the construction period, the nature and frequency of traffic movements. Overall, 
whilst the temporary adverse impact on local residents during the construction phase 
is recognised, nevertheless it is considered that these can be suitably mitigated.

         3. The environmental role

  Heritage Assets

7.38  Although the supporting statement attached as Appendix 2 states that the 
development does not impact on heritage assets, nevertheless  there are two Grade 
II listed buildings approximately 130m to the south west (Holy Claines Farmhouse 
and outbuilding about 11 metres south of Holy Claines Farmhouse). The site is also 
located in an area designated as being archaeologically sensitive in the adopted 
SWDP proposals map. As such, the proposals should be considered against Policies 
SWDP 6 and SWDP 24 which seek to protect and enhance designated and non-
designated heritage assets and guide against development that would cause 
substantial harm to the significance of any heritage asset. Policy SWDP 6 states that 
“Development proposals should conserve and enhance heritage assets, including 
assets of potential archaeological interest” and “Development proposals will be 
supported where they conserve and enhance the significance of heritage assets, 
including their setting”.

7.39 This is consistent with the NPPF in that they seek to protect and enhance designated 
and non-designated heritage assets and guide against development that would cause 
substantial harm to the significance of any heritage asset. 

Page 34



In accordance with the NPPF great weight must be given to the conservation of 
designated heritage assets and in accordance with s66 of the Planning Listed 
Building and Conservation Areas Act 1990, special regard is to be had to the 
desirability of preserving listed buildings or their settings. 

7.40 There is a substantial amount of planning case law regarding how a decision taker 
must address the issue of harm to heritage assets, such as listed buildings. 
Essentially, this makes it is clear that the decision maker is required to give 
considerable importance and weight to the desirability of avoiding harm to the 
heritage asset. There is accordingly a strong presumption, imposed by the Planning 
Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas Act 1990, against harmful development. 
This is the case whether the harm is ‘substantial’ or is ‘less than substantial’. There 
is no specific test in the NPPF of what differentiates substantial harm from other 
harm for the purposes of national policy. Whilst the judgments are not prescriptive 
as to where the threshold between ‘substantial’ and ‘less than substantial’ lies, 
nevertheless case law has been established that for harm to be substantial, the 
impact on significance is required to be serious such that very much, if not all, of the 
significance of the asset is eroded, for example by complete demolition.

7.41 In my opinion, the proposals would have an impact on the setting of the adjacent 
Grade II listed buildings due to their inter-visibility and visual experience of these 
assets in short and longer range views. However, given the nature of intervening 
development and the level of screening afforded around the site, I consider that the 
proposals would have less than substantial harm in respect of the impact on the 
setting of the adjacent assets. In my opinion, this limited harm is outweighed by the 
public benefits of the proposals, namely the provision of a source of ‘localised’ power 
generation for the area in the event of supply interruptions or surges in demand. 

7.42 In terms of the effect on below ground deposits, the scheme has no direct 
archaeological implications, as reflected in the Archaeological Officer’s comments. 

7.43 In summarising the likely effects of the proposal on heritage assets and having full 
regard to the policies in the development plan and national guidance it is assessed 
that the proposed development would have less than substantial harm to the 
significance of the designated heritage assets. Paragraph 196 of the NPPF requires a 
balancing exercise to be undertaken between the “less than substantial harm” to the 
designated heritage asset on the one hand, and the public benefits of the proposal 
on the other. Taking this into account, I am of the opinion that the impact on the 
designated heritage assets would be insufficient for the application to be refused.

Impact on Green Space/ Green Infrastructure

7.44 The site is part of a narrow strip of green infrastructure alongside the northern 
boundary of the city and linking to the golf courses to the west and the wildlife 
corridor along the railway line. The site is located in an area for Green 
Infrastructure (Mid-Worcestershire Corridor), identified as “protect and restore”, on 
the Environmental Character Areas Map that accompanies the South Worcestershire 
Development Plan. From a review of the Worcestershire Green Infrastructure 
Strategy, paragraph 5.24 states that ‘the key to planning and managing green 
infrastructure in new development is to consider the site in its context’. 

7.45 The site is also located within an area designated as being Green Space in the 
SWDP wherein policy SWDP 38 applies. Both national and local policy requires 
development proposals to be sympathetic to their landscape setting and 
encourages the creation and conservation of green open spaces and green corridors 

Page 35



within and on the periphery of settlements. The policy generally restricts 
development in these areas, unless certain exceptional circumstances are 
demonstrated. Policy SWDP 38: Green Space states:

A.  Green Space, as identified on the Proposals Policies Map, includes a range of 
private and public open spaces, and associated community facilities

B. Development of Green Spaces will not be permitted unless the following 
exceptional circumstances are demonstrated:

i. The proposal is for a community / recreational use that does not compromise the 
essential quality and character of the Green Space; or 
ii. An assessment of community and technical need (using recognised national 
methodology where appropriate) clearly demonstrates that the Green Space is 
surplus to requirements; or   
iii. Alternative / replacement Green Space of at least equivalent value to the 
community has been secured in a suitable location

C.  This policy should be read in conjunction with policies SWDP 5, 22, 29 & 39 as 
any new Green Infrastructure secured under these policies will be designated and 
protected as Green Space

7.46 The proposal does not meet any of the above exceptional circumstances. However, 
relevant policies anticipate the possibility of some development on Green Space and 
provide that development in such areas may be allowed should other material 
considerations outweigh its designation. Bringing forward development on the site 
within an area of Green Space/Green Infrastructure inescapably creates tension with 
the above policies and it is accepted that there will inevitably be some impact, but 
that impact is of a kind which would inevitably occur at any site upon which 
development might occur. 

7.47 In my opinion, there needs to be consideration of the works associated on site rather 
than off-site. As such, the test of acceptability cannot rest solely on either: (i) the 
visibility of the development or (ii) its effect on openness. It is inevitable that any 
new development of the site would be visible, because any new development would 
be visible. Whilst there is a hedge along the roadside to the south and the railway 
embankment to the east, the north and west side would remain open. However, an 
indicative landscaping plan has been submitted to identify opportunities for 
additional planting within the site. Conditions are recommended to ensure that a 
landscaping scheme will be provided and the site will be restored in line with an 
agreed scheme after the 25 year period. In my view the localised harm can be 
adequately mitigated by these conditions.   

7.48 Taking into account my assessment of the principle of development I consider that 
this provides justification for the proposals in these particular circumstances and that 
in this instance the ‘technical need’ for the green space is determined as surplus to 
requirements as a result of the green belt conclusions.

Ecology & Wildlife

7.49 The applicant submitted a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal with the application. The 
report made the following recommendations – 

Page 36



Hedgerows 
The proposed development may result in the loss in a small extent of species rich 
hedgerows during the widening of the site entrance. This could be mitigated against 
by the replanting a similar extent of hedgerow comprising a mix of native shrubs 
and trees of local provenance. This could provide a bell-mouth entrance to the site. 

Badgers 
A small Badger sett is present in the railway embankment at the eastern Site 
boundary. It is unclear as to whether it is in current use as close inspection was not 
possible. It is unlikely that the proposed development would result in an offence. 
However, there is potential that Badgers may become trapped within the 
construction site during the development phase and simple mitigation is 
recommended within the report.
 
Nesting birds 
It is likely that occasional common bird species nest within hedgerow bounding the 
Site. If this habitat is to be cleared or disturbed during the accepted bird nesting 
season (March to August inclusive), it should be thoroughly inspected, by a suitably 
qualified person, prior to disturbance. If nesting birds are found, all activities likely 
to damage the immediate area should be delayed until chicks have fledged. 

7.50 Whilst I note the comments of the Council’s Landscape Adviser, nevertheless 
subject to the above recommendations I consider that it is unlikely that, with 
mitigation measures, the proposal would have a significant impact on ecology and 
wildlife.  

Design and appearance

7.51 Policy SWDP 21 seeks to ensure that, amongst other matters, all new development   
will be of high quality design and integrate effectively with its surroundings .These 
policy requirements are consistent with the aims and objectives of the NPPF which 
attaches significant weight to the importance of design of the built environment and 
identifies it as a key aspect of sustainable development. 

7.52 The proposed generators, outbuildings and the security fencing will be utilitarian 
structures reflecting greater emphasis on function rather than form. In this respect 
it would not cause offence and I would not raise objection on design related 
grounds. 

Access and Highway Safety

7.53 The Highway Authority has not raised any objections to the proposal. The access 
arrangements are now considered to be acceptable for the low level of traffic that 
the proposal will generate once up and running. Consequently, it is considered that 
this application is acceptable with regard to the impact on highway safety.

 Air Quality

7.54 An Air Quality Assessment has been undertaken to assess any impact on the 
amenity of nearby sensitive receptors, residential properties and neighbours to the 
proposed development. The assessment has demonstrated that the proposed 
development will not lead to any exceedances of the air quality objectives. The 
impacts in terms of annual mean nitrogen dioxide concentrations at all local, 
sensitive receptors have shown to be negligible. The hourly mean nitrogen dioxide 
objective will not be exceeded.

Page 37



7.55 The assessment has also demonstrated that the proposed development will not 
have a significant impact at nearby designated ecological sites, with the process 
contributions all being below published screening criteria.

7.56 Overall, it is considered that the air quality effects associated with the proposed 
natural-gas power-generation facility at Hindlip Lane, with the generators operating 
for up to 2,500 hours per year, will be ‘not significant’.

7.57 The assessment has concluded that impacts on both human and designated habitat 
sites would not be significant therefore no mitigation is considered necessary and 
air quality does not pose a constraint to development of the site as proposed. 
Worcestershire Regulatory Services has no objection to this aspect of the proposals 
and I am satisfied that the proposal would therefore accord with policies SWDP 22 
and SWDP 31 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan (2016).  

8. Conclusion and planning balance

8.1 The NPPF identifies a series of the components that are considered critical to 
achieving sustainable development. In my opinion, the above assessment of the 
planning application proposals against the planning policy framework demonstrates 
that the application responds to the requirements of the adopted planning policy 
within the development plan and material considerations relevant to the 
determination of the application.

8.2 Whilst the assessment is not an exhaustive list of all policies that are potentially 
applicable to this site, it seeks to address how the proposals respond to the key 
planning criteria in the planning policy framework against which the planning 
application will be determined.

8.4 The Green Belt issues are fully addressed elsewhere in this report but in summary it 
is considered that the very special circumstances for Green Belt development have 
been demonstrated. In my opinion, the harm to the Green Belt by reason of 
inappropriateness is outweighed by very special circumstances primarily because it 
directly helps to address climate change by providing alternative power facilities to 
support the move towards low carbon energy supplied by renewable energy to the 
extent that the proposal is not considered to be entirely unacceptable in principle.  
The impact of the development on the Green Space designation of the site and green 
infrastructure is also considered to be outweighed by the energy benefits of the 
proposal. 

8.5 The proposed development would result in some economic benefits; employment 
during construction and thereafter for maintenance purposes. For this role of 
sustainable development, the balance would clearly be in favour of granting planning 
permission.

8.5 With regard to the social role, the scheme would deliver a source of ‘localised’ power 
generation for the area, meaning that in the event of supply interruptions or surges 
in demand, the local area would continue to be served. This is a factor to which I 
attach significant weight. I am also satisfied that the proposals would not detract 
from the amenities of local residents.

8.6 In terms of the environmental aspects the proposals are assessed to be acceptable in 
relation to their impact on adjacent heritage assets, ecology & wildlife, design and 
appearance, access and highway safety and air quality. 

Page 38



•

With regard to the objections raised by the neighbouring resident regarding the 
siting of the proposed development this aspect of the proposal is considered to be 
supported by the submitted Site Selection Statement and its impact in terms of noise 
generation is not considered to be unacceptable in consultation with Worcestershire 
Regulatory Services.

8.7 I acknowledge all comments received as part of the consultation process and 
consider all material planning issues have been considered in the determination of 
this application. Having regard to the totality of national and local policies I consider 
that the proposed development is sustainable when looking at its social, economic 
and environmental credentials in the round. The adverse impacts of the development 
(taking into account the considerable importance and weight to be given to the harm 
to the significance of the heritage assets) do not significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits.  Overall, it is considered that the proposals constitute an 
environmentally, socially and economically sustainable form of development for a 
limited period of 25 years after which the site will be restored. As such, the 
development is considered to accord with the Framework and the Development Plan 
when read as a whole. 

9. Recommended conditions

9.1 It is recommended that Members are MINDED TO GRANT a temporary (25 year) 
planning permission, subject to planning conditions and referral of the application to 
the Secretary of State. The Town and Country Planning (Consultation) (England) 
Direction 2009 sets out the applicable criteria and arrangements that must be 
followed
for consulting the Secretary of State once the local planning authority has resolved 
to grant planning permission for certain types of development that are set out in 
paragraphs 3-8 of the Direction. 

9.2 The purpose of the Direction is to give the Secretary of State an opportunity to 
consider using the power to 'call in' an application under section 77 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. The use of the call-in power requires that the decision be 
taken by the Secretary of State rather than the local planning authority.

9.3 Paragraph  4 of the Direction states  that "Green Belt development" means 
development which consists of or includes inappropriate development on land 
allocated  as Green Belt in an adopted  local plan, unitary development plan of 
development  plan document and which consists  of or includes:

(a) the provision of a building or buildings where the floor space to be created  by 
the development is 1,000 square metres  or more; or

(b) any other development  which, by reason of its scale or nature or location, 
would  have a significant  impact on the openness of the Green Belt.

9.4 Paragraph 11 of the Direction  stipulates that where a Local Planning authority is 
required to consult the Secretary of State, it shall not grant planning permission  on 
the application  until the expiry of a 21-day period  after the Secretary of State 
acknowledges  receipt of the referral.

9.5 It is therefore recommended that the application  be referred to the Secretary of 
State, in accordance  with the requirements  of The Town and Country  Planning 
(Consultation)  (England) Direction  2009 on the basis that the proposal  would have 
a significant  impact on the openness of the Green Belt.

Page 39



9.6 In the event that members resolve that they are minded to grant planning 
permission the following conditions are recommended: 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission.

Reason: To conform with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out and completed in 
accordance with the following approved plans and associated documents and the 
specifications and recommendations contained therein, except where otherwise 
stipulated by conditions attached to this permission

Air Quality Assessment (Air Quality Consultants Ltd) October 2019

Arboricultural Impact Assessment

Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Western Ecology) October 2019

Planning Design And Access Statement

21889c -0201 P1 Location Plan

8164 Topographical Survey

21889c -0202 P3 General Arrangement

21889- 0404 P1 Item Elevation of NER

21889 – 0403 P1 Item Elevation Gas Governor

21889-0400 P1 Item Elevation Of DNO Substation

21889- 0402 P2 Item Elevation Customer Substation

21889- 0405 P1Item Elevation Auxiliary Transformer

21889- 0406 P1 Item Elevation 2.4m High Palisade Fencing

21889- 0401 P4 Item Elevation Of 2.5mw Generator 

21889- 0407 Item Elevation 2.4m High Palisade Gate

14163-HYD-XX-XX-DR-TP-0202_P01 Swept Path Analysis – Potential Enabling 
Works

14163-HYD-XX-XX-DR-TP-0201_P02 Swept Path Analysis 5.8 Metre Commercial 
Maintenance Van 

14163-HYD-XX-XX-DR-TP-0101_P02 Proposed Site Access General Arrangement 

ARL102-MA01 Revision 02 Landscaping Plan Option C

Page 40



Reason: To ensure compliance with the approved scheme.

3. The planning permission hereby granted is for a period from the date of this 
decision until the date occurring 25 years after the date of commencement of the 
development hereby permitted. Written notification of the date of 
commencement shall be given to the local planning authority no later than 14 
days after the event. 

Reason: In view of the temporary nature of the development and in accordance 
with policies SWDP 2, SWDP 5, SWDP 22 and SWDP 38 of the South 
Worcestershire Development Plan and the aims and objectives of the National 
Planning Policy Framework.

4.

5.

No later than 12 months prior to the end of this permission, a site restoration 
scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The scheme shall include a programme of works to remove the plant 
and related equipment, and shall be fully implemented within 12 months of the 
expiry of this permission. 

Reason: To safeguard the character of the area in accordance with Policies SWDP 
2, SWDP 5, SWDP 22 and SWDP 38 of the South Worcestershire Development 
Plan and the aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Twenty one days before any development is commenced resulting in any 
excavation within the site, written notice shall be given to the local planning 
authority, whereupon the local planning authority shall, within 21 days of receipt 
of such notice, specify in writing to the developer which persons authorised by 
the local planning authority shall be allowed access to the site whilst any 
excavations are in progress for the purpose of archaeological investigation.  This 
access shall allow for a period of up to one day for unencumbered archaeological 
recording to take place within the trenches if in the opinion of the City 
Archaeological Officer features of interest are revealed.

Reason:-

To allow the historical and archaeological interest of the building to be recorded in 
accordance with policies SWDP 6 and SWDP 24 of the South Worcestershire 
Development Plan and the aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

6. If during the course of the works hereby approved any of the following features of 
interest are uncovered, the local planning authority shall be notified immediately 
and no works affecting such features shall take place until they have been 
inspected by persons authorised by the local planning authority and a scheme for 
their retention and/or treatment agreed in writing.

Schedule of features of interest: 

Archaeological remains of Roman or earlier date 

Reason: To allow the historical and archaeological potential of the site to be 

Page 41



recorded in accordance with policies SWDP6 and SWDP 24 of the South 
Worcestershire Development Plan and the aims and objectives of the National 
Planning Policy Framework.

7. The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until the visibility 
splays shown on Drawing No 14163-HYD-XX-XX-DR-TP-0101 have been 
provided. The splays shall at all times be maintained free of level obstruction 
exceeding a height of 0.6m above adjacent carriageway.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

8. The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until the access 
including 10m hard surfacing and set back gates, turning area and parking 
facilities shown on the submitted plans have been provided. These areas shall 
thereafter be retained and kept available for their respective approved uses at all 
times. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to ensure the free flow of traffic 
using the adjoining highway.

9. Notwithstanding any details shown on Drawing No. ARL102-MA01 Revision 02 
Landscaping Plan Option C, a scheme of landscaping shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before the first use of the 
development hereby permitted.  The landscaping scheme shall include:-

(i) a plan(s) showing details of all existing trees and hedges on the application 
site. The plan should include, for each tree/hedge, the accurate position, canopy 
spread and species, together with an indication of any proposals for 
felling/pruning and any proposed changes in ground level, or other works to be 
carried out, within the canopy spread.
(ii) a plan(s) showing the layout of proposed tree, hedge and shrub planting and 
grass areas.
(iii) a schedule of proposed planting - indicating species, sizes at time of planting 
and numbers/densities of plants.
(iv) a written specification outlining cultivation and other operations associated 
with plant and grass establishment.
(v) a schedule of maintenance, including watering and the control of competitive 
weed growth, for a minimum period of five years from first planting. 

All planting and seeding/turfing shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details in the first planting and seeding/turfing seasons following the 
completion or first occupation/use of the development, whichever is the sooner. 

The planting shall be maintained in accordance with the approved schedule of 
maintenance.  Any trees or plants which, within 25 years from the completion of 
the planting, die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be 
replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species.

Reason: To ensure the proposed development does not have an adverse effect on 

Page 42



the character and appearance of the area in accordance with policies SWDP21 
and SWDP25 of South Worcestershire Development Plan.

10. Before the first use of the development hereby permitted a schedule of landscape 
maintenance for the lifetime of the development shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The schedule shall include 
details of the arrangements for its implementation, long-term design objectives, 
management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for all landscape areas. 
The approved landscape maintenance schedule shall be fully implemented.

Reason: To ensure the proposed development does not have an adverse effect on 
the character and appearance of the area in accordance with policies SWDP21 
and SWDP25 of South Worcestershire Development Plan.

11. The development hereby approved shall not commence until a Construction 
Environmental Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. This shall include but not be limited to the 
following:-

 Measures to ensure that vehicles leaving the site do not deposit mud or other 
detritus on the public highway;

 Details of site operative parking areas, material storage areas and the location 
of site operatives facilities (offices, toilets etc);

 The hours that associated vehicles will be permitted to arrive and depart, and 
arrangements for unloading and manoeuvring.

 Details of any temporary construction accesses and their reinstatement as 
required.

 A highway condition survey, timescale for re-inspections, and details of any 
reinstatement as required.

The measures set out in the approved Plan shall be carried out and complied with 
in full during the construction of the development hereby approved. Site 
operatives' parking, material storage and the positioning of operatives' facilities 
shall only take place on the site in locations approved by in writing by the local 
planning authority.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to mitigate the impact of 
construction vehicles on the surrounding highway network, road infrastructure 
and local residents, particularly at morning and afternoon peak traffic times.

12 No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works, vegetation 
clearance) until a construction environmental management plan (CEMP: 
Biodiversity) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The CEMP (Biodiversity) shall include the following: 

a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities;.

b) Identification of "biodiversity protection zones";

c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to 
avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of method 

Page 43



statements);

d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity 
features;

e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on 
site to oversee works;

f) Responsible persons and lines of communication;

g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or 
similarly competent person/s;

h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs;

I) updated ecological surveys where more than 24 months old;

j) proposals for further species mitigation measures that may be required.

The approved CEMP: Biodiversity shall be adhered to and implemented 
throughout the construction period strictly in accordance with the approved 
details.

reason: - To ensure that the proposed development contributes to the 
conservation and enhancement of ecology and biodiversity within the site and for 
the wider area and to accord with the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 and the 
Conservation of Species and Habitats Regulations 2010 in accordance with policy 
SWDP 22 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan and the aims and 
interests that the National Planning Policy Framework seeks to protect and 
promote with regard to the conservation and enhancement of the natural 
environment.

Page 44



Site 1 – WR3 8SD X (Easting) 386342, Y (Northing) 257761 

 
 

Approximate size: 6,000 sqm/0.60 hectares 

Approximate distance to gas point of connection: 830 metres 

Approximate distance to electric point of connection: 470 metres 

Does the site benefit from an existing vehicular access? 
No, but it would not be too difficult to provide an access 
from Spring Bank if required.  

Is the site within an area of Flood Risk? No. 

Does the site have any Planning History of relevance?  No. 

Is the site on the Brownfield Land Register? No. 

Is the site part of a wider Planning Policy Designation? 

The site is within an area of the Worcestershire Green 
Belt which wraps around the western area of the 
industrial estate. The site is part of a Green Space (Policy 
SWDP 38) within a Green Infrastructure Area (Policy 
SWDP 5)  

Is it within an area of constraint? 
Yes, the site is next to the Perdiswell Park Golf Course 
that is to the south west of the site. 

Are there any public rights of way or footpaths within or 
adjacent to the site? 

Yes, there is a public footpath that runs along the border 
of the site to the south west which connects to a footpath 
across the golf course and nearby canal footpath.  

How far away are the nearest receptors?  10-15 metres south 

Is it available? 
Unlikely. Title WR115840, which makes up the wider 
business park area, owned by Blackpole Trading Estate. 

Is it suitable?  No. 

Is it achievable?  
In terms of size it is achievable, however due to the 
proximity to receptors it is not achievable.  

Conclusion: 

The site is more visually connected to the wider Green 
Belt use than that of the nearby industrial estate. The site 
is not screened particularly well and is an important open 
space connecting people via the nearby public footpath to 
the canal towpath and along the golf course.    

 

Page 45 Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



Site 2 – WR3 8SJ X (Easting) 386742, Y (Northing) 258422 

 
 

Approximate size: 5,800 sqm/0.58 hectares 

Approximate distance to gas point of connection: 280 metres 

Approximate distance to electric point of connection: 810 metres 

Does the site benefit from an existing vehicular access? 
No, would need to be from Hurst Lane and then would 
have to pass over a nearby agricultural field.  

Is the site within an area of Flood Risk? 
Yes, there is a low to medium risk of surface water 
flooding in the southern area of the site.  

Does the site have any Planning History of relevance?  No, nothing found based on an initial desk top appraisal.  

Is the site on the Brownfield Land Register? No. 

Is the site part of a wider Planning Policy Designation? 

Yes, the site is outside of the City Boundary to the north 
and within the Green Infrastructure (Policy SWDP 5). 
Policy SWDP 5 details the scope and procedure of how 
greenfield sites should contribute to the local 
infrastructure. 

Is it within an area of constraint? 

Yes, the site is within the Green Belt and in the open 
countryside. There are also potential Ecology issues 
within the area as protected birds and habitats are within 
close proximity.  

Are there any public rights of way or footpaths within or 
adjacent to the site? 

No.  

How far away are the nearest receptors?  Approximately 220 metres north east of the site.  

Is it available? 
No. Title WR108427 has a caution on the land that makes 
it extremely difficult from a legal standpoint.  

Is it suitable?  
The site is suitable in terms of its size and its location next 
to the noisy A449.  

Is it achievable?  
No, the site is disconnected from the industrial estate and 
built up infrastructure in the south and is very much open 
countryside.  

Page 46



Conclusion: 

Whilst the site is considered unavailable. The main 
problem with this location relates to the site being on the 
north side of the A449 and the high cost to connect the 
gas and electric cables from the points of connection that 
are located south of the A449.   

 

Page 47



Site 3 – WR3 8SU X (Easting) 387612, Y (Northing) 258498 

 
 
 

Approximate size: 7,000 sqm/0.70 hectares 

Approximate distance to gas point of connection: 1,110 km 

Approximate distance to electric point of connection: 1,230 km 

Does the site benefit from an existing vehicular access? Yes, there is a narrow access from Hindlip Lane. 

Is the site within an area of Flood Risk? No. 

Does the site have any Planning History of relevance?  No. 

Is the site on the Brownfield Land Register? No. 

Is the site part of a wider Planning Policy Designation? 
Yes, the site is within the Green Belt as well as a Green 
Infrastructure Area (Policy SWDP 5). 

Is it within an area of constraint? 
Yes, the site is within close proximity of an historic park 
and garden area (within 250m) that dates back to the 
medieval period.  

Are there any public rights of way or footpaths within or 
adjacent to the site? 

No. 

How far away are the nearest receptors?  10-15 metres  

Is it available? 
Potentially yes. Title HW178206, under private 
ownership.  

Is it suitable?  
Yes, in terms of size and screening along the northern and 
eastern boundaries. There is a lower level of screening 
along the southern boundary.   

Is it achievable?  
No, the site is too close to receptors and connection costs 
are too high.   

Conclusion: 

The main problem with this location relates to the site 
being on the north side of the A449 and the high cost to 
connect the gas and electric cables from the points of 
connection that are located south of the A449.   

 

Page 48



Site 4 – WR3 7ST  X (Easting) 385549, Y (Northing) 258764 

 
 
 

Approximate size: 13,500 sqm/1.35 hectares 

Approximate distance to gas point of connection: 1.69 km 

Approximate distance to electric point of connection: 2.20 km 

Does the site benefit from an existing vehicular access? 

No, the site is unlikely to get a suitable access from the 
A449 and would have to be from School Bank to the 
north west, which would then have to pass over an 
agricultural field to get to the site.  

Is the site within an area of Flood Risk? No. 

Does the site have any Planning History of relevance?  No. 

Is the site on the Brownfield Land Register? No. 

Is the site part of a wider Planning Policy Designation? 
The site is outside the Worcester City Development 
Boundary but is within the Green Belt and in a Green 
Infrastructure Area (Policy SWDP 5). 

Is it within an area of constraint? 
Yes, there is no other built form or infrastructure near it 
apart from the A449. There is also a school and playing 
field within 90 metres.  

Are there any public rights of way or footpaths within or 
adjacent to the site? 

No.  

How far away are the nearest receptors?  
Approximately 80 metres to the south west across the 
A449.  

Is it available? 
The land is unregistered, so the landowner is 
uncontactable. 

Is it suitable?  
In terms of size yes, however the challenge of connecting 
to both points of connection (Gas & Electricity) on the 
opposite side of the A449 would deem the site unsuitable. 

Is it achievable?  
No, the distance to the points of connection and lack of 
access would not be achievable.  

Conclusion: 
The site is ideal in terms of size, however it’s open 
location and constraints in relation to points of 

Page 49



connection difficulties in contacting the site owner and 
access would make it not feasible.  

 

Page 50



Site 5 – WR3 7RS X (Easting) 385327, Y (Northing) 259028 

 
 

Approximate size: 11,000 sqm/1.10 hectares 

Approximate distance to gas point of connection: 1.8 km 

Approximate distance to electric point of connection: 2.3 km 

Does the site benefit from an existing vehicular access? 
Yes, from School Bank Road however this would need 
to be expanded for larger construction vehicles.  

Is the site within an area of Flood Risk? No. 

Does the site have any Planning History of relevance?  No. 

Is the site on the Brownfield Land Register? No. 

Is the site part of a wider Planning Policy Designation? 
The site is outside the Worcester City Development 
Boundary but is within the Green Belt and in a Green 
Infrastructure Area (Policy SWDP 5). 

Is it within an area of constraint? 
Yes, the site is within 25 metres of a Primary School and 
has very little natural screening in place.  

Are there any public rights of way or footpaths within or 
adjacent to the site? 

Yes, along the eastern boundary of the site from north to 
south.  

How far away are the nearest receptors?  
Residential receptors are within 90 metres with a 
Primary School located within 25 metres. 

Is it available? 
Potentially yes. Title WR105555, under private 
ownership.  

Is it suitable?  
In terms of size yes, however the proximity to the school 
and minimal natural screening would not make the site 
suitable.  

Page 51



Is it achievable?  
No, the distance to the points of connection and 
difficulties in developing the site would not make it 
achievable.   

Conclusion: 

The site is ideal in terms of size, however it is located 
close to the sensitive receptors, has minimal screening 
and constraints in relation to points of connection, so is 
not feasible or realistic. 

 

Page 52



Site 6 – WR3 8DX X (Easting) 385688, Y (Northing) 257294 

 
 

Approximate size: 11,300 sqm/1.13 hectares 

Approximate distance to gas point of connection: 1.9 km  

Approximate distance to electric point of connection: 1.26 km 

Does the site benefit from an existing vehicular access? 
Yes, the site could achieve suitable access from the car 
park that is next to the Perdiswell Leisure Centre.  

Is the site within an area of Flood Risk? 
Yes, the site has a medium level of flood risk from 
localised Rivers. Therefore, it is likely a Flood Risk 
Assessment would be needed for the site’s development.  

Does the site have any Planning History of relevance?  

An outline application was made to extend the Leisure 
Centre back in 2012 (App Reference P12M0470) this was 
approved 21/10/2013. A Certificate of Lawful Use was 
made by the Perdiswell Golf Club which is adjoined to 
the north of the site. It is unclear if these applications have 
been completed or not.  

Is the site on the Brownfield Land Register? No. 

Is the site part of a wider Planning Policy Designation? 

Yes, the site is within the Worcester City Development 
Boundary and, is a designated Green Space (Policy 
SWDP 38: Green Space). The site is also within an area 
(Policy SWDP43/24). 

Is it within an area of constraint? 
Yes, the land is adjoined to Perdiswell Leisure Centre and 
is likely to be utilised for sporting activities.   

Are there any public rights of way or footpaths within or 
adjacent to the site? 

Yes, there is a bridleway that runs next to the site 
alongside the Worcester & Birmingham Canal which is to 
the east of the site.  

How far away are the nearest receptors?  
Nearest residential receptors are 110 metre away to the 
east of the site.  

Page 53



Is it available? 
Unlikely. Title HW20690, owned by Worcester City 
Council, which has a pending application against the title. 

Is it suitable?  
In terms of size yes, however the proximity to the leisure 
centre and the public bridleway would not make the site 
suitable.  

Is it achievable?  
No, the distance to the points of connection and 
difficulties in the change of use of the site would not 
make it achievable.  

Conclusion: 
The constraints associated to the site in relation to points 
of connection, the current use and proximity to the Canal 
Bridleway would not be feasible or realistic.    

 

Page 54



Site 7 – WR3 7SW X (Easting) 385444, Y (Northing) 257952 

 
 

Approximate size: 13,300 sqm/1.33 hectares 

Approximate distance to gas point of connection: 1.7 km 

Approximate distance to electric point of connection: 2.2 km 

Does the site benefit from an existing vehicular access? 
Yes, there is a narrow access gate and lowered kerb that 
provides vehicular access into the site.   

Is the site within an area of Flood Risk? No. 

Does the site have any Planning History of relevance?  No.  

Is the site on the Brownfield Land Register? No. 

Is the site part of a wider Planning Policy Designation? 

The site is inside the Worcester City Development 
Boundary, within the Green Belt in a Green 
Infrastructure Area (Policy SWDP 5) and Green Space 
(Policy SWDP 38: Green Space).    

Is it within an area of constraint? Yes, the site is directly next to public allotments. 

Are there any public rights of way or footpaths within or 
adjacent to the site? 

Yes, there is a public footpath that runs directly across 
the northern boundary of the site.  

How far away are the nearest receptors?  50 metres in a north west direction.  

Is it available? 
No. Title HW130013 has just been purchased by Blue 
Diamond UK, from Worcester City Council. Blue 
Diamond are garden centre developers.  

Is it suitable?  
Yes, the site is well screened from the road and to the 
rear from wider views.  

Is it achievable?  
It is not achievable due to the site being currently owned 
by a Garden Centre Developer.   

Conclusion: 

The site is not available, has a public footpath near the 
site along with the public allotments, is only 50 metres 
away from the nearest receptors and is a long way from 
the nearest points of connection.  

 

Page 55



Site 8 – WR3 7SS X (Easting) 385364, Y (Northing) 258542 

 
 

Approximate size: 26,000 sqm/2.60 hectares 

Approximate distance to gas point of connection: 1.5 km 

Approximate distance to electric point of connection: 2 km 

Does the site benefit from an existing vehicular access? No, but could be achieved from Claines Lane.  

Is the site within an area of Flood Risk? No. 

Does the site have any Planning History of relevance?  
No, there are a number of applications approved for the 
continued use and development of the football club 
immediately neighbouring the south east side of the site.  

Is the site on the Brownfield Land Register? No. 

Is the site part of a wider Planning Policy Designation? 

The site is within the Worcester City Development 
Boundary, Green Belt and the site is Green Space (Policy 
SWDP 38: Green Space). The site is also in a Green 
Infrastructure Area (Policy SWDP 5). The site is also 
within a Mineral Consultation Area (Policy SWDP 32: 
Minerals). 

Is it within an area of constraint? Yes, the site is an open flat area.  

Are there any public rights of way or footpaths within or 
adjacent to the site? 

Yes, there is a public footpath that runs close to the south 
west area of the site. There is also a pedestrian footpath 
that runs along Claines Lane along the northern boundary 
of the site.   

How far away are the nearest receptors?  85 metres away north east of the site.  

Is it available? 
Potentially yes. Title WR105555, under private 
ownership. 

Is it suitable?  
In terms of size it is suitable, however there is no natural 
screening in place along any of the boundaries protecting 
the site from wider views.   

Is it achievable?  
No, there is no access, the distance to the points of 
connection are too far away and the site is set away from 
any infrastructure or built form.   

Page 56



Conclusion: 
The site is not suitable, due to distance of connection 
points and the open nature of the land with no natural 
screening.  

 

Page 57



Site 9 – WR3 7RR X (Easting) 385651, Y (Northing) 259021 

 
 

Approximate size: 13,300 sqm/1.30 hectares 

Approximate distance to gas point of connection: 1.8 km 

Approximate distance to electric point of connection: 2.3 km 

Does the site benefit from an existing vehicular access? Yes, but it is via the school.  

Is the site within an area of Flood Risk? No. 

Does the site have any Planning History of relevance?  No. 

Is the site on the Brownfield Land Register? No. 

Is the site part of a wider Planning Policy Designation? 

The site is also in a Green Infrastructure Area (Policy 
SWDP 5) which details how proposals should not have a 
detrimental impact within the area as they should look to 
‘protect and enhance’ or ‘‘protect and restore’’. 

Is it within an area of constraint? 
Yes, the site is within the Green Belt and the field itself 
forms part of the nearby school (The Grange).  

Are there any public rights of way or footpaths within or 
adjacent to the site? 

No. 

How far away are the nearest receptors?  90 metres away to the north.  

Is it available? 
No. Title HW166014 is owned by The Royal Grammar 
School of Worcester.  

Is it suitable?  
In terms of size, natural screening and proximity to 
residential receptors it is suitable. 

Is it achievable?  No, the site is unavailable due to its current ownership  

Conclusion: 

The site remains in the ownership of the school and they 
are unlikely to relinquish the site for another type of 
development not linked to the school. The site is also too 
far away from the points of connection for it to be 
feasible.  

 

Page 58



Site 10 – WR3 8RB X (Easting) 387256, Y (Northing) 259493 

 
 

Approximate size: 10,200 sqm/1.02 hectares 

Approximate distance to gas point of connection: 1.7 km 

Approximate distance to electric point of connection: 1.9 km 

Does the site benefit from an existing vehicular access? 
No, but could be achieved from Post Office Lane which is 
the end of a cul-de sac.  

Is the site within an area of Flood Risk? 
No, but there is a high risk of surface water flooding on 
the border of the site at the north due to the Martin Brook. 

Does the site have any Planning History of relevance?  No. 

Is the site on the Brownfield Land Register? No. 

Is the site part of a wider Planning Policy Designation? 

Yes, the site within the Green Belt and in a Green 
Infrastructure Area (Policy SWDP 5) which details how 
proposals should not have a detrimental impact within the 
area as they should look to ‘protect and enhance’ or 
‘‘protect and restore’’. 

Is it within an area of constraint? 

Yes, the site is within the Green Belt and in an area with a 
woodland to the immediate north of the site which is 
likely to include Ecological habitats associated to the 
river.  

Are there any public rights of way or footpaths within or 
adjacent to the site? 

Yes, there is a public access route along the north of the 
site partly passing through the wooded area.    

How far away are the nearest receptors?  50 metres away to the south.  

Is it available? 
Potentially yes. Title WR116331, owned by Castletown 
Estates.  

Is it suitable?  
In terms of size, its natural screening on two sides and 
railway line on the western boundary yes. The issues 
making it not suitable are the proximity to receptors.  

Is it achievable?  
No, the site is too close to residential receptors and 
therefore not achievable.  

Page 59



Conclusion: 

The site is an open expanse of land without any 
infrastructure or substantial road or industrial estate close 
to it, the distance to the points of connection are also too 
far away.   

 

Page 60



Site 11 – WR3 8SU X (Easting) 387068, Y (Northing) 258465 

 
 

Approximate size: 12,500 sqm/1.25 hectares 

Approximate distance to gas point of connection: 525 metres 

Approximate distance to electric point of connection: 650 metres 

Does the site benefit from an existing vehicular access? Yes, the site has access from Hindlip Lane to the south.  

Is the site within an area of Flood Risk? No. 

Does the site have any Planning History of relevance?  No. 

Is the site on the Brownfield Land Register? No. 

Is the site part of a wider Planning Policy Designation? 

Yes, the site is outside of the City Boundary to the north 
and within the Green Infrastructure (Policy SWDP 5). 
Policy SWDP 5 details the scope and procedure of how 
greenfield sites should contribute to the local 
infrastructure. 

Is it within an area of constraint? 

Yes, the site is within the Green Belt and in the open 
countryside. There are also potential Ecology issues 
within the area as protected birds and habitats are within 
close proximity. 

Are there any public rights of way or footpaths within or 
adjacent to the site? 

Not directly through the site, however there is a public 
access route to the east of the site.   

How far away are the nearest receptors?  
Approximately 20 metres north west of the site, however 
there could be potential to locate the development 
towards the south east corner of the site.  

Is it available? 
Potentially yes. Title WR104360, owned by Marsten 
Developments.  

Is it suitable?  
Yes, the size is suitable, it does have an access and is 
reasonably well screened.  

Is it achievable?  
No, the site is north of the A449 and therefore would be 
problematic in terms of connecting to the two points of 
connection.  

Page 61



Conclusion: 
The site is not feasible as the points of connection are on 
the opposite side of the A449 and it would be costly to 
pass the connections over/under the road.  

 

Page 62



Site 12 – WR3 8SJ X (Easting) 386352, Y (Northing) 258496 

 
 

Approximate size: 17,000 sqm/1.70 hectares 

Approximate distance to gas point of connection: 515 metres 

Approximate distance to electric point of connection: 1 km 

Does the site benefit from an existing vehicular access? No. 

Is the site within an area of Flood Risk? 
Yes, there is an area of low to medium flood risk to the 
south of the site from surface water flooding.   

Does the site have any Planning History of relevance?  No. 

Is the site on the Brownfield Land Register? No. 

Is the site part of a wider Planning Policy Designation? 

Yes, the site within the Green Belt and in a Green 
Infrastructure Area (Policy SWDP 5) which details how 
proposals should not have a detrimental impact within the 
area as they should look to ‘protect and enhance’ or 
‘‘protect and restore’’. 

Is it within an area of constraint? 

Yes, the site is an area of a large open expanse within the 
Green Belt with only the screening buffer and A449 to the 
south the nearest built infrastructure within close 
proximity.  

Are there any public rights of way or footpaths within or 
adjacent to the site? 

Yes, there is both a public right of way and recreational 
route directly through the site.    

How far away are the nearest receptors?  60 metres away south of the site.  

Is it available? 
Potentially yes. Title WR165977, under private 
ownership.  

Page 63



Is it suitable?  
In terms of size yes, however there is only partial 
screening in place along the south and the site forms part 
of an agricultural holding.   

Is it achievable?  
No, there is no access into the site, and it is too 
problematic to connect to both points of connection on the 
opposite side of the A449.  

Conclusion: 

The site has no access along with too many constraints in 
place that restrict the site coming forward due to the 
distance and problems associated to the points of 
connection located to the south of the A449.  

 

Page 64



Site 13 – WR3 8SJ X (Easting) 387477, Y (Northing) 257866 

 
 

Approximate size: 12,500 sqm/1.25 hectares 

Approximate distance to gas point of connection: 1.3 km 

Approximate distance to electric point of connection: 750 metres  

Does the site benefit from an existing vehicular access? 
Yes, there is a track access along the southern boundary 
of the site connecting to the Blackpole Road.  

Is the site within an area of Flood Risk? 
Yes, the area to the west and south of the site are within 
medium to high risk zones from river and surface water 
flooding.  

Does the site have any Planning History of relevance?  No. 

Is the site on the Brownfield Land Register? No. 

Is the site part of a wider Planning Policy Designation? 

Yes, the site is within the Worcester City Development 
boundary, in addition to the Green Belt, the site within 
the Green Belt and in a Green Infrastructure Area (Policy 
SWDP 5) which details how proposals should not have a 
detrimental impact within the area as they should look to 
‘protect and enhance’ or ‘‘protect and restore’’. 

Is it within an area of constraint? 
Yes, the site is within the Green Belt and within an area 
of flood risk with overhead electric cables passing over 
the areas of the site to the south.  

Are there any public rights of way or footpaths within or 
adjacent to the site? 

Yes, there is a public bridleway along the Canal to the 
south of the site.  

How far away are the nearest receptors?  
Approximately 400 metres away in a north western 
direction. 

Is it available? 
The land is unregistered, so the landowner is 
uncontactable. 

Is it suitable?  
In terms of size and proximity to the electric point of the 
connection it is suitable.  

Page 65



Is it achievable?  
No, due to the location within a flood risk area, its 
proximity to a public bridleway and overhead electric 
cables with the nearby pylon.   

Conclusion: 
The site is an unrealistic option due to its constraints as 
listed above as well as the site being unavailable.  

 

Page 66



Site 14 – WR4 9ND X (Easting) 387072, Y (Northing) 257841 

 
 

Approximate size: 13,900 sqm/1.39 hectares 

Approximate distance to gas point of connection: 870 metres 

Approximate distance to electric point of connection: 315 metres 

Does the site benefit from an existing vehicular access? Yes, a track access from Blackpole Road exists.  

Is the site within an area of Flood Risk? 
No, there is an area just outside the northern boundary of 
the site which is within an area at medium of flood risk 
from rivers.  

Does the site have any Planning History of relevance?  No. 

Is the site on the Brownfield Land Register? No.  

Is the site part of a wider Planning Policy Designation? 

Yes, the site is within the Worcester City Development 
boundary, in addition to the Green Belt, the site within 
the Green Belt and in a Green Infrastructure Area (Policy 
SWDP 5) which details how proposals should not have a 
detrimental impact within the area as they should look to 
‘protect and enhance’ or ‘‘protect and restore’’. The site 
is also within a Green Space (Policy SWDP 38: Green 
Space) which states development in these areas will not 
be permitted unless in exceptional circumstances are 
demonstrated.    

Is it within an area of constraint? 

Yes, the site is within the Green Belt and in an area that 
has a Canal to the south and small River close to the 
northern boundary. There are also likely to be Ecological 
concerns related to the nearby waterways. There is also 
very little screening in place, and it is detached from any 
nearby infrastructure. 

Page 67



Are there any public rights of way or footpaths within or 
adjacent to the site? 

Yes, there is a public bridleway to the south of the site 
along the Canal.  

How far away are the nearest receptors?  120 metres west. 

Is it available? 
Potentially yes. Title WR130838, under private 
ownership.  

Is it suitable?  
Yes, the size of the site is suitable as is the access and 
distance to the points of connection.  

Is it achievable?  
No, the closeness of the site to the public bridleway 
along the canal is very close to the site.  

Conclusion: 

The site is an unrealistic option as it is within an open 
area of the Green Belt, has very little if any screening, 
has a number of Ecological constraints and is directly 
next to a public bridleway.    

 

Page 68



 

  Directors 
Mark J I Clayton – Managing    Nicholas C Leaney    Alan E B Taylor 
 

Aardvark EM Limited  Registered in England at 
 21 Silver Street, Ottery St Mary, Devon EX11 1DB 
 Company Registration Number 3473012 
VAT Registration Number 709 8450 13 

 

 

 

  Our ref: 5266/kl 
  Your ref: 19/00820/FUL 

 

 

18 February 2020
 
 

Dear Mr Coleman 

Ref: PLANNING APPLICATION 19/00820/FUL – LAND AT HINDLIP LANE, WORCESTER, WR3 
8SB 

Following correspondence with Mr Colin Blundel (the previously assigned case officer) on the 19th 
December 2019, we wish to provide further information in regards to demonstrating the principle of the 
development and whether in this instance Very Special Circumstances (VSC) exist such that 
‘inappropriate development’ (as defined in paragraph 143 in the NPPF) would be acceptable within the 
Green Belt.  

No methodology has been provided within the responses from both the landscape officer and policy 
team as to how their conclusions have been derived when assessing the policies against the proposed 
development and in context of its location. We will therefore seek to further address policies SWDP 2, 
SWDP 5 and SWDP 38 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan (SWDP) below.  

We note that Worcestershire Regulatory Services, Highways and HSE have issued no objections.  

 

Principle of Development  

The site is a small parcel of land which is situated between the railway line, A449 and Blackpole 
Trading Estate and is enclosed by existing vegetation. The open countryside is defined as land beyond 
any development boundary within SWDP2. The site is situated within the Worcester City Development 
Boundary as identified in the SWDP Policy Maps. The site is shown in yellow below.  

Higher Ford    Wiveliscombe 
Taunton    Somerset    TA4 2RL 

 
Offices also in: London 

 
Tel: +44 (0)1984 624989 
Fax: +44(0) 1984 623912 

environment@aardvarkem.co.uk 
www.aardvarkem.co.uk 

 

FAO Mr Alan Coleman 
Head of Development Planning & Enforcement 
Development Services 
Worcester City Council  
The Guildhall 
High Street 
Worcester 
WR1 2EY 

Page 69 Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



 

  Directors 
Mark J I Clayton – Managing    Nicholas C Leaney    Alan E B Taylor 
 

Aardvark EM Limited  Registered in England at 
 21 Silver Street, Ottery St Mary, Devon EX11 1DB 
 Company Registration Number 3473012 
VAT Registration Number 709 8450 13 

 

 

Source: Worcestershire City Council SWDP Interactive Map  

SWDP states that development should safeguard the open countryside with development being 
directed towards urban areas. Worcestershire City Development Boundary is the highest category of 
settlement hierarchy in which policy implementation states that it is ‘to support implementation in an 
effective and sustainable manner, significant investment is required in infrastructure’.  

As the site is within the highest category of settlement hierarchy, where SWDP 2 supports 
development, it is considered that subject to the proposal complying with Green Belt policy and other 
local development policies, the principle of the development would be acceptable. The proposal also 
does not conflict with this policy or its objectives as it does not prevent development of this type being 
proposed.  

 

Green Belt  

As part of the SWDP Review, a strategic assessment of the Green Belt has been conducted. Part 1 of 
the Green Belt Study assesses land against the five purposes of the Green Belt as set out in the NPPF. 

The policy team have identified that the land is adjacent to parcel S12 of Green Belt Study Part 1. The 
proposed site is indicated in yellow below.  

 

Page 70



 

  Directors 
Mark J I Clayton – Managing    Nicholas C Leaney    Alan E B Taylor 
 

Aardvark EM Limited  Registered in England at 
 21 Silver Street, Ottery St Mary, Devon EX11 1DB 
 Company Registration Number 3473012 
VAT Registration Number 709 8450 13 

 

 

Source: Green Belt Study Part 1 – Appendix A, page A175 

The policy team’s assessment of the site in relation to parcel S12 is therefore not considered to be 
representative as this relates to the golf course and adjacent open areas of land which include a 
network of Public Rights of Ways. The site does however fall within the Worcester Green Belt and 
therefore National Green Belt policy should be applied.  

It is agreed that the proposed development does not benefit from any of the exceptions in paras. 145 
and 146 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and is therefore inappropriate. The 
decision taker needs to therefore assess the definitional harm to the green belt by virtue of 
inappropriateness, any impact on openness, and any conflict with the purposes of the Green Belt, this 
should then be weighed against the benefits of the proposal as set out in a case for very special 
circumstances.  

Following discussions with the LPA, there appears to be two distinct areas which need to be assessed 
regarding the development and its location within the Green Belt; 

 Conflict with the purposes of the Green Belt; and 

 Harm to the openness of the Green Belt. 

Taking each of these points in turn; 

Purposes of the Green Belt 

The five purposes of the Green Belt as outlined within para. 134 of the NPPF are assessed below:  

Purposes of the Green Belt Development Assessment 

To check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up 
areas 

The scale and location of the proposed 
development would not contribute to sprawl of 
a large built up area.  

To prevent neighbouring towns merging into one 
another 

There is no evidence of significant 
development pressure on the area in which the 
application site is located and would not lead to 
the merging of settlements.  

Page 71



 

  Directors 
Mark J I Clayton – Managing    Nicholas C Leaney    Alan E B Taylor 
 

Aardvark EM Limited  Registered in England at 
 21 Silver Street, Ottery St Mary, Devon EX11 1DB 
 Company Registration Number 3473012 
VAT Registration Number 709 8450 13 

 

To assist in safeguarding the countryside from 
encroachment  

The site is situated within the Worcester City 
Development Boundary, so assists in 
safeguarding the countryside from 
encroachment.  

To preserve the setting and special character of 
historic towns 

The development does not impact on heritage 
assets or the setting of historic towns. 

To assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the 
recycling of derelict and other urban land 

Recycling of urban or derelict land is not 
relevant due to the requirements for both grid 
and gas connection.   

  

This enclosed Local Capacity Supporting Information evidences that the site is the best position within 
the local area to accommodate the required flows of electricity. The site is close to both the electric and 
gas points of connection where an available connection in the National Grid exists, which can 
accommodate the export of electricity at the level provided by the proposed facility.  

A site selection statement is submitted with this letter which outlines the process by which the proposed 
site at Hindlip Lane was arrived at as being the best available site for this proposed development. This 
includes in the appendices the analysis of 14no. identified sites within a viable distance of identified grid 
capacity, 13no. of which are within the Green Belt and 1no. is located outside.  

The supporting information demonstrates very special circumstances in terms of the need for the 
project and the need for it be in this location to justify an exception to Green Belt policies contained 
within the NPPF. The principle of the development is therefore acceptable.  

 

Harm to Openness 

Following Supreme Court’s Judgement on the 5 February 20201, we wish to reiterate that Openness in 
a Green Belt context does not ‘imply freedom from all forms of development’ (our emphasis). 

From reviewing the surrounding available sites, it is concluded that the development is well-sited 
making use of existing vegetation and topography to help integrate it into the surrounding landscape 
and to reduce views towards the proposal on completion. Although the development would introduce a 
new feature into the local landscape, it would not affect the perceived openness of the landscape in the 
site’s immediate vicinity as this is curtailed by the surrounding infrastructure and the enclosed nature of 
the site. 

The latest Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) (001 Reference ID: 64-001-20190722, published 22 July 
2019) has identified a number of matters which may need to be taken into account in making an 
assessment when considering the potential impact of development on the openness of the Green Belt, 
these are as follows;  

 openness is capable of having both spatial and visual aspects – in other words, the visual 
impact of the proposal may be relevant, as could its volume;  

 the duration of the development, and its remediability – taking into account any provisions to 
return land to its original state or to an equivalent (or improved) state of openness; and  

                                                 
1 R (on the application of Samuel Smith Old Brewery (Tadcaster) and others) (Respondents) v North Yorkshire County 
Council (Appellant) [2020] UKSC 3 

Page 72



 

  Directors 
Mark J I Clayton – Managing    Nicholas C Leaney    Alan E B Taylor 
 

Aardvark EM Limited  Registered in England at 
 21 Silver Street, Ottery St Mary, Devon EX11 1DB 
 Company Registration Number 3473012 
VAT Registration Number 709 8450 13 

 

 the degree of activity likely to be generated, such as traffic generation.  

Taking each of these points in turn; 

 The proposed site is 0.15ha (including the access track), so has a small footprint and volume 
when compared with conventional energy developments. The site is well enclosed and views 
into the site are limited, which in turn restricts its openness. 

 To align with the direction of PPG, it is proposed that temporary planning permission is sought 
for 25 years following the development being brought into use or within twelve months of the 
cessation of electricity generation by the facility hereby, whichever is the sooner. The site will be 
remediated and returned to its original state or to an equivalent (or improved) state of 
openness. 

 The degree of activity generated by the development will be minimal. Once operational the 
number of vehicle movements visiting the site would be restricted to periodic visits for 
operational and maintenance purposes and daily visits by site engineers to ensure the 
availability of the plant to respond to National grid stress events. As such, once operational the 
additional traffic movements associated with the proposed development will be negligible on the 
local road network. 

It is therefore considered that the development would not harm the openness of the Green Belt 
designation in accordance with para. 133 of the NPPF. The above factors and submitted information all 
contribute collectively to provide a justification for very special circumstances.  

 

Green Infrastructure (SWDP 5) 

The site is located in an area for Green Infrastructure (GI) (Mid-Worcestershire Corridor). From a review 
of the Worcestershire Green Infrastructure Strategy, the underlying principle of GI is that the same area 
of land can frequently offer multiple benefits. The green infrastructure approach therefore integrates 
consideration of economic, health and social benefits to ensure that delivery against both environmental 
and socio-economic objectives is central to the planning, management and delivery of these spaces 
(para. 1.7). 

The quality of each Green Infrastructure Environmental Character Area (ECA) has been placed into one 
of the three categories: 

1. Protect and enhance (greatest existing green infrastructure value) 

2. Protect and restore (medium existing green infrastructure value) 

3. Restore and create (lowest existing green infrastructure value) 

The site falls within an area identified as protect and restore, so afforded medium existing green 
infrastructure value. Within Appendix D (Green Infrastructure Profiles) the strategic GI approach for the 
Mid-Worcestershire Corridor is to restore environmental quality / support socio-economic 
enhancements. However, it goes on to state that it is also important to remember that although the 
priorities provide a starting point, individual site considerations will be key in choosing an appropriate 
approach (para. 4.4). This is also supported in para. 5.24 which states that ‘the key to planning and 
managing green infrastructure in new development is to consider the site in its context’.   

The site is a privately owned area of land, which is enclosed by surrounding vegetation. The site itself is 
used for horse grazing, this is a common habitat of negligible value for biodiversity as outlined within 
section 3.2 of the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal.  

Page 73



 

  Directors 
Mark J I Clayton – Managing    Nicholas C Leaney    Alan E B Taylor 
 

Aardvark EM Limited  Registered in England at 
 21 Silver Street, Ottery St Mary, Devon EX11 1DB 
 Company Registration Number 3473012 
VAT Registration Number 709 8450 13 

 

It is noted that the landscape officer have highlighted badgers as being a concern, however badgers 
have been considered and wish to direct the LPA to the supporting Preliminary Ecological Assessment 
(particularly pages 15-16) which outlines how the site could influence badger setts and the measures 
which will be taken to ensure suitable protections. The surrounding vegetation, other than to provide 
suitable access to the site will not be disturbed, thereby ensuring that existing habitats and species are 
suitably protected in accordance with Policy SWDP 5. 

Further planting of the surrounding vegetation would enhance the current condition of the site and align 
with the requirement to protect and restore green infrastructure in a local context. An indicative 
landscaping plan (drawing ref. ARL102-MA01 Rev 02) has been provided to identify opportunities for 
additional planting within the site.  

This could be secured by way of a suitable planning condition.  

The Worcestershire Green Infrastructure Strategy states in para. 5.44 that ‘the term ‘infrastructure’ 
means the basic facilities, services and installations needed for a functioning community or society, 
including transport, waste management, emergency services, communications, water supply, 
wastewater, flood risk, minerals and energy (including heat), health, community and cultural 
infrastructure and other local facilities’.  

It has been demonstrated within the Appeal process (APP/R1010/W/17/3172633) that ‘the proposed 
generators could be described as ‘associated infrastructure’ that would support the move towards low 
carbon energy supplied increasingly by renewable energy developments’. 

Due to the temporary nature of the development and proposed enhancements as outlined above, it is 
proposed that the development should be assessed against SWDP 5 (B) rather than (C).  

SWDP5 (B) outlines that ‘The precise form and function(s) of GI will depend on local circumstances and 
the Worcestershire Green Infrastructure Strategy’s priorities. Developers should seek to agree these 
matters with the local planning authority in advance of a planning application. Effective management 
arrangements should also be clearly set out and secured. Once a planning permission has been 
implemented, the associated GI will be protected as Green Space (SWDP 38 refers)’. 

The use of the land for energy provision with enhancement of the natural environment through 
additional planting measures would align with the principles of protecting and enhancing the designated 
GI as defined in the supplementary Worcestershire Green Infrastructure Strategy and in accordance 
with SWDP 38. 

 

Green Space (SWDP 38) 

The site lies within the Green Space of Broomhall Green. Policy SWDP 38 outlines that development of 
Green Space will not be permitted unless exceptional circumstances are demonstrated.  

SWDP 38 aims to protect open spaces identified on the Policies Map, together with numerous 
incidental open spaces too small to include but that nonetheless contribute to the quality and character 
of their local areas. These small local spaces are often valued and used heavily by local communities 
and are therefore worthy of policy protection. Whilst most open spaces are publicly accessible, some 
are in private ownership, although they nonetheless perform valuable functions such as contributing to 
biodiversity, the character of the area and providing a sense of openness and space. 

The site is privately owned and well enclosed by existing vegetation and is not publicly accessible. It is 
noted that small private parcels of land contribute to quality and character of their local areas.  

Page 74



 

  Directors 
Mark J I Clayton – Managing    Nicholas C Leaney    Alan E B Taylor 
 

Aardvark EM Limited  Registered in England at 
 21 Silver Street, Ottery St Mary, Devon EX11 1DB 
 Company Registration Number 3473012 
VAT Registration Number 709 8450 13 

 

Taking the site in context and particularly considering its enclosed nature (i.e. lack of openness) when 
compared to the parcels of land to the west in which public rights of way are located, it is argued that 
the location of the development would be appropriate in addressing community and technical needs for 
energy provision (as demonstrated in the supporting information) and therefore is surplus to Green 
requirements in accordance with SWDP 38 (B ii). 

When reviewing the interactive policy map, which establishes the boundary of the Broomhall Green 
designation, the boundaries include infrastructure such as local roads, the railway line and the A449.  

The proposed development would be physically linked to the regional gas distribution network, plus the 
local and national electrical grid transmission system. Hence, it would not be unrelated to the operation 
of that existing infrastructure facility. 

We would therefore argue that the proposed development would fall into serving a community use 
through providing a local energy provision to meet the National Grid requirements and therefore should 
be treated as an exceptional circumstance under SWDP 38. Additional planting could also provide 
further local benefits.  

 

Environmental Benefits  

Paragraph 147 confirms and indicates that the decision taker should give weight to the environmental 
benefits associated with increased production of energy from renewable sources.  The proposal would 
add resilience to the National Grid and would facilitate moves to accommodate the increasing 
deployment of low carbon renewable generation by helping the Grid to buffer against variations in 
generation from renewable sources. It is acknowledged that the Development Plan attaches significant 
weight to the delivery of renewable and low carbon energy generation (SWDP 27).  

Whilst noting that the scheme would rely on a non-renewable source to provide energy, the 
development of a natural gas peaking plant has the potential to deliver a carbon saving of 37.5% of 
CO2 per MWh12 generated (20% when compared to the average of the UK electricity grid) as they 
replace more centralised old and more polluting plants, which currently deliver this service.  

Low Carbon technologies are recognised as having benefits in reducing GHG emission to which 
para.154 of the NPPF affords significant weight even to small-scale projects. The contribution of this 
development in relation to replacing more centralised plants would therefore align with both National 
Planning Policies (paras. 148 and 151 of the NPPF), and as you rightly highlight, the Development Plan 
attaches significant weight to the delivery of renewable and low carbon energy generation. Taking this 
into account, the scheme should therefore be afforded more weight than that currently presented by the 
Local Planning Authority.  

The positive wider environmental benefits combine to carry significant weight in determining this 
planning application. Accordingly, it is considered that very special circumstances exist which clearly 
outweigh the defined harm to the openness of the green belt and the purpose of including land within it. 

 

Planning Balance 

SWDP 2 seeks to manage development within the district which includes safeguarding the open 
countryside and assessing development in the Green Belt against national policy.  

                                                 
2 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greenhouse-gas-reporting-conversion-factors-2019  

Page 75



 

  Directors 
Mark J I Clayton – Managing    Nicholas C Leaney    Alan E B Taylor 
 

Aardvark EM Limited  Registered in England at 
 21 Silver Street, Ottery St Mary, Devon EX11 1DB 
 Company Registration Number 3473012 
VAT Registration Number 709 8450 13 

 

As the site is within the Worcester City Development Boundary, where SWDP 2 supports development, 
it is considered that subject to the proposal complying with Green Belt policy and other local 
development policies, the principle of the development would be acceptable. 

The above policy therefore aligns with para. 144 of the NPPF, which will be used as the starting point 
for demonstrating very special circumstances where development is located within the Green Belt. This 
requires a balance to be carried out, considering the accumulated harms on the one hand and ‘other 
considerations’ on the other.  

There is nothing at all in national policy or practice or case law which requires applicants to show that 
there are no alternative sites outside the Green Belt; and/or that the principle can only be met on the 
application site. Each of these matters might be relevant to whether VSC exist. For example, if a key 
objective of national energy policy can only be met on an application site within the Green Belt, the 
case for planning permission could be overwhelming. Similarly, if an applicant has carried out a 
thorough site selection exercise (as here), this is likely to be a factor which weighs very heavily in 
favour of planning permission.  

Given the wider environmental benefits of the proposal, it is considered that the development would be 
an appropriate form of development within the Green Belt, especially when considering the surrounding 
existing development and lack of alternative sites. The benefits of the temporary development as 
proposed, would therefore clearly outweigh any harm to the Green Belt.  

Policies such as SWDP5 and SWDP 38 have also been addressed and confirm, when taking the site in 
context, that the development could be accommodated without conflicting with the key principles of 
these designations.  

On the above basis, we trust that the Council will consider the information presented and not seek to 
place an unwarranted constraint on the approach to the assessment of VSC, SWDP 5 and 38 such that 
the proposed development can be granted consent.  

 

Yours faithfully 

 
Kirsty Lodge    BSc Hons AssocRTPI 
For Aardvark EM Limited 
 

Encs. Local Capacity Supporting Information 

 Site Selection Statement 

 Site Analysis – Alternative Sites 

 Landscaping Plan (drawing ref. ARL102-MA01 Rev 02)   

Page 76



Application Numbers 20/00081/CU & 20/00095/LB

Site Address 6 St Swithins Street, Worcester, WR1 2PY
Description of 
Development

Change of use from A1 to A3/A5 and front elevation 
awning

Case Officer Paul Collins
Paul.collins@worcester.gov.uk
01905 722129

Applicant Adam Giagnotti
The Olive Branch

Ward Member(s) Cathedral Ward Agent Adam Giagnotti
Reason for Referral to 
Committee

Departure from 
Development Plan

Expiry 
Date

22nd May 2020

Key Issues The principle of development and whether the proposal 
would be sustainable form of development having regard 
to the 3 dimensions of sustainable development in terms 
of its economic role, social role and environmental role. 

Web link to application https://plan.worcester.gov.uk/Planning/Display/20/00081/CU
Recommendation The Deputy Director - Economic Development and 

Planning recommends that the Planning Committee 
grants planning permission subject to the 
conditions set out in section 9 of this report and 
Listed Building Consent subject to the conditions 
set out in section 10 of this report.

1. Background

1.1 The application was registered on 28 February 2020 and was due for a decision on 
24th April 2020. An extension of time for the determination of the application has been 
agreed until 22nd May 2020 to allow determination by the Planning Committee.

1.2 The application has been referred to the Planning Committee in accordance with the 
adopted Scheme of Delegation.

2.  The site and surrounding area 

2.1 The application site is listed grade II, jointly with No.7 adjoining; both are situate 
within the Historic City Conservation Area. St Swithin’s Street is continuously 
numbered. Nos.8 & 9 are locally listed, and the rear of the application site adjoins the 
former vestry of St Swithun’s Church, which is owned by the applicant and run as ‘The 
Olive Branch’ restaurant. St Swithun’s Church is grade I listed and currently 
undergoing extensive repair and refurbishment. There is no inter-visibility between 
the site and the church. 

2.2 Built as a pair of houses c.1750, but in use as shops with offices over for a long 
period, uses have included as a travel agency, a tanning salon, and, most recently as 
a sandwich shop (consented on 16 January 2014). Accommodating these uses has 
resulted in a number of internal and external changes, including a new staircase 
(consented 1963) and a new shop front (consented 1992). The previous use ceased 
on 22 December 2019. This had only used the ground and first floor; the latter for 
storage only. The basement was in effect voided off. Access to it was very difficult, 
requiring the opening of a trap door in the floor and use of a ladder

Page 77 Agenda Item 8

mailto:Paul.collins@worcester.gov.uk
https://plan.worcester.gov.uk/Search/Results


3. The proposals

3.1 It is proposed to carry out alterations to convert the premises to a pizzeria, making 
use 
of the ground floor and basement, with the first floor used for storage (much as with 
the immediate past use). The works required to achieve this are: -

Externally
Minimal work is proposed to the existing shop front, which is to remain, mainly 
comprising redecoration, signage and the addition of a new awning, details of which 
are conditioned.

Internally – Ground floor

Page 78



The main change will be the installation of a new timber staircase between the 
ground floor retail space and the basement. This will require the creation of a new 
opening in the floor, which is of modern construction. The existing wall lining – 
stainless steel panels and plasterboard – remaining from the previous shop fit out 
will also be removed. In its place a new preparation and seating area will be created. 
This will include a gas-fired pizza oven, which will utilise the shop’s existing 
extraction system, suitably refurbished.

Internally – Basement
A number of changes are proposed, including the installation of the new timber 
staircase from the ground floor retail space, noted above, plus the addition of a new 
w/c, which will use existing services. Tables and seating (not fixed) will also be 
added. Creation of this space will require some existing walls to be demolished; 
these include a full-height non-supporting one and a low level wall by the proposed 
base for the new staircase. The remains of an old range and hearth, uncovered in 
the basement, will be retained as a feature in its new use.

3.2 The application is accompanied by a full set of plans together with a suite of 
supporting documents that include: -

Location plan
proposed front elevation
proposed basement floor plan
proposed ground floor plan
exisiting front elevation
existing basement plan
existing ground floor
block plan
Ground floor demolition plan 
proposed basement floor plan 
basement demolition plan
proposed ground floor plan 
Design Statement 6 St Swithins

3.3 In accordance with Article 15 (7) of The Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), full details of the 
application have been published on the Council’s website. As such, Members will 
have had the opportunity to review the submitted plans and documents in order to 
familiarise themselves with the proposals prior to consideration and determination of 
the application accordingly.

4. Planning Policy

4.1 The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (‘the Act’) establishes the legislative 
framework for consideration of this application. Section 70(2) of the Act requires the 
decision-maker in determining planning applications/appeals to have regard to the 
Development Plan, insofar as it is material to the application/appeal, and to any 
other material consideration. Where the Development Plan is material to the 
development proposal it must therefore be taken into account. Section 38(6) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires the application/appeal to be 
determined in accordance with the Plan, unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.

Page 79



4.2 This is further reflected in South Worcestershire Development Plan policies SWDP 6 
and SWDP 24, which seek to protect and enhance designated and non-designated 
heritage assets and guide against development that would cause substantial harm to 
the significance of any heritage asset, and policy SWDP 21 which sets generic design 
principles for development proposals. Policy SWDP 21 requires that all development 
will be expected to be of a high design quality and integrate effectively with its 
surroundings and that development proposal must complement the character of the 
area. Furthermore, proposals should respond to surrounding buildings and the 
distinctive features or qualities that contribute to the visual and heritage interest of 
the townscape, frontages, streets and landscape quality of the local area and states 
that the scale, height and massing of development must be appropriate to the 
setting of the site and the surrounding landscape character and townscape, including 
existing urban grain and density.

4.3 The key legal provisions relating to the consideration of heritage assets in the 
planning system are s72 (1) and s66 (1) of the Planning Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas Act 1990 which state that “special attention shall be paid to the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area” and 
“have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any 
features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses”.

4.4 The Development Plan for Worcester now comprises: -

 The South Worcestershire Development Plan (SWDP) which was adopted 
February 2016, and;

 The Worcestershire Waste Core Strategy, which was adopted on December 2012. 

South Worcestershire Development Plan

4.5 The following policies of the SWDP are considered to be relevant to the proposal: -

SWDP 4 Moving Around South Worcestershire
SWDP 6 Historic Environment
SWDP 10 Primary Shopping Frontage
SWDP 21 Design
SWDP 24 Management of the Historic Environment
SWDP 27 Renewable and Low Carbon Energy
SWDP 29 Sustainable Drainage Systems

The Waste Core Strategy for Worcestershire - Adopted Waste Local Plan 
2012-2027 

4.6 The Waste Local Plan was adopted by Worcestershire County Council on 15 
November 2012 and is a plan outlining how to manage all the waste produced in 
Worcestershire up to 2027. The following policies are relevant to this application: -

WCS1 Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
WCS3 Re-use and recycle
WCS17 Making provision for waste in new development

Material Considerations

1. National Planning Policy Framework

Page 80



4.7 The latest version of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published 
and came into effect in February 2019. The NPPF sets out the Government's planning 
policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. It constitutes 
guidance for local planning authorities and decision takers and is a material planning 
consideration in determining planning applications. 

4.8 The NPPF outlines a series of considerations against which delivering sustainable 
development should be assessed. Paragraph 38  of the NPPF encourages Local 
Planning Authorities to approach decision taking in a positive way and to foster the 
delivery of sustainable development. LPAs are advised at paragraph 39 of the NPPF 
to look for solutions rather than problems and decision-takers are asked to approve 
applications for sustainable development where possible.

4.9 Paragraph 200 of the NPPF states that “Local Authorities are called to look for 
opportunities for new development within conservation areas and the setting of 
heritage assets to enhance or better reveal their significance” and that “Permission 
should be refused for development of poor design that fails to take the opportunities 
available for improving the character and quality of an area” (paragraph 130). 

4.10 The Government believes that sustainable development can play three critical roles 
in England: an economic role, contributing to a strong, responsive, competitive 
economy; a social role, supporting vibrant and healthy communities; and an 
environmental role, protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic 
environment.

2. National Planning Practice Guidance 

4.11 On 6th March 2014 the Government also published National Planning Practice 
Guidance (NPPG) that has been updated in the meantime and comprises, amongst 
other matters: - Design, Determining a planning application, Health and Wellbeing, 
Noise, and Use of Planning Conditions. 

3. Supplementary Planning Documents

4.12 The following Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) are relevant to the 
application proposals:-

 South Worcestershire Design SPD

The South Worcestershire Design SPD was adopted on 5th March 2018 and replaces 
the previous Supplementary Planning Guidance Note 3: Design (SPG3). Both 
documents encourage high standards of design for development proposals in 
accordance with the aims and interests that the NPPF seeks to protect and promote 
in this regard. The Design Quality SPD is consistent with the planning policies in the 
SWDP. 

 Planning for Health in South Worcestershire SPD

The Planning for Health SPD primarily focuses on the principal links between 
planning and health. It provides guidance and interpretation of the SWDP from a 
public health perspective. The SPD addresses following nine health and wellbeing 
principles:

 Sustainable development

Page 81



 Urban form - design and the public realm
 Housing and employment
 Age-friendly environments for the elderly and those living with dementia
 Community facilities
 Green infrastructure and play spaces/recreation
 Air quality, noise, light and water management
 Active travel
 Encouraging healthier food choices

 Renewable and Low Carbon Energy SPD

The SPD relates to policy SWDP 27 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan, 
which seeks to promote a percentage of energy requirements on qualifying 
development sites to be provided from renewable energy and/or low carbon sources. 
The policy also requires large scale development to examine the potential for 
decentralised energy and heating networks, and also sets out the policy approach for 
stand alone renewable and low carbon energy schemes (with the exception of wind 
turbines).

4. Worcestershire’s Local Transport Plan (LTP4) 2018 – 2030

4.13 LTP4 set out issues and priorities for investment in transport infrastructure, 
technology and services, focussed on supporting travel by all modes. In accordance 
with national and local objectives, a series of local transport-specific objectives are 
identified in the LTP4:

 “To support Worcestershire’s economic competitiveness and growth through 
delivering a safe, reliable and efficient transport network.

 To limit the impacts of transport in Worcestershire on the local environment, by 
supporting enhancements to the natural environment and biodiversity, investing 
in transport infrastructure to reduce flood risk and other environmental damage, 
and reducing transport-related emissions of nitrogen dioxide, particulate matter, 
greenhouse gases and noise pollution. This will support delivery of the desired 
outcomes of tackling climate change and reducing the impacts of transport on 
public health.

 To contribute towards better safety, security, health and longer life expectancy in 
Worcestershire, by reducing the risk of death, injury or illness arising from 
transport and promoting healthy modes of travel.

 To optimise equality of opportunity for all of Worcestershire’s citizens with the 
desired outcome of creating a fairer society.

 To enhance the quality of life for Worcestershire’s residents by promoting a 
healthy, natural environment, for people, wildlife and habitats, conserving our 
historic built environment and preserving our heritage assets."

5. Worcestershire County Council Streetscape Design Guide (2018)

4.14 The ‘Streetscape Design Guide' (SDG) was produced to aid architects, engineers, 
planners, developers, designers and other professionals in preparing transport 
infrastructure related to new developments. It is to be considered in conjunction with 
Manual for Streets 1 and 2, as well as the Design Manual for Roads and Bridges.

4.15 Chapter 4 relates to ‘Planning for Parking’ and seeks to provide an approach as to 
how car parking in Worcestershire should be provided to support development in a 
manner which embraces the NPPF. 

Page 82



It is considered that if the applicant is the end user that they are well placed to 
assess operational demands but all sites must be considered against a planning use 
class to ensure they equally address the needs of future users. Therefore 
applications should provide a suitable evidence base to ensure vehicles are not 
displaced onto the highway to ensure highway safety is not compromised and 
maintain the free flow of traffic to the benefit of the local economy. This document 
only reflects a small part of managing vehicle demands and therefore should be read 
alongside the Local Transport Plan (above) which contains policies to promote 
sustainable travel through the provision of physical infrastructure and travel planning 
initiatives.

5. Planning History

5.1 The site has been the subject of the following planning applications:

17069 - New staircase central heating system and sanitary accommodation.
A Jan 18 1963 

74/0596 - Use as a money shop for finance house. Refused Jul 19 1974 

75/0472 - Internal alterations to shop for preparation and sale of food. Approved Jul 
18 1975 

P92C0002 - internal refurbishment and installation of a new timber shop front to 
existing retail travel agency. Approved Apr 30 1992

P08D0228 - Change of use from Use Class A1 to tanning, beauty and nail salon( Sui 
Generis). Approved Jul 24 2008 

P13D0565 - Proposed shop conversion from Sui Generis tanning salon to A1 Sandwich 
bar with associated change to shop front, internal layout and first floor windows. 
Approved Jan 16 2014 

5.2 The site has been the subject of the following applications for advertisement consent:-

A289 - Hanging sign size 2ft x 4ft. Approved Feb 9 1953 

A74/047 - One non illuminated shop fascia advertisement comprising the words 
citibank money shop in approximately 8in black individual store enamelled lettering 
applied to a white background panel approximately 18ft 9in x 2ft 8in. Withdrawn Jan 2 
1900 

A75/063 - non illuminated fascia sign 6300mm (20ft 8in)long by 900mm (2ft 11 
3/4in) deep bearing the words gordons in 300mm (11 3/4in) high microgramma bold 
extended lettering brown with white edging and of worcester in 150mm (6in) high 
eurostyle extended lower case white lettering all on a bronze yellow ground being 
approx 1050mm (8ft 9in) above pavement level. Approved Sep 19 1975 

A80/094 - Internally illuminated box fascia sign measuring 19ft x 2ft 6 in with opal 
perspex face superimposed with red overlay. the sign reads travel agents in 15in high 
white lettering with black shadow and world transport agency (travel) ltd in 5in high 
blue letters with an overall blue border.2)internally illuminated double sided projecting 
box sign measuring 3ft x 2ft x 6in with opal perspex face and blue and red border. 
Refused May 1 1981. Appeal registered 29.9.81 and dismissed 6.7.82.

Page 83



A92C0001 - Erection of 1no 0.785 x 0.530m non illuminated projecting sign and 
installation of 1no 5.3 x 0.6m non illuminated applied red foamex letters. Approved 30 
1992 

5.3 The site has been the subject of the following applications for advertisement consent:-

L85C0017 - Internal alterations in connection with change of use to provide function 
rooms. Approved Aug 13 1985 

L92C0003 - Internal alterations and installation of a new shopfront. Approved Apr 30 
1992 

L98L0053 - Replacement of existing staircase, extension of existing toilet provision 
and the opening up of the cellar to provide small bar/waiting area for diners. 
Approved Dec 1 1998 

L08D0080 - Ground floor: Creation of 4 tanning cubicles using non permanent stud 
walling. Replacement of existing laminate floor with dark wood flooring. Replacement 
of damaged ceiling. Replacement of suspended ceiling.
First floor: Creation of 3 treatment rooms using non permanent stud walling. 
Installation of lavatory and stores. Replacement of carpet with wood flooring. Removal 
of strip lighting. Cleaning of stairs and repairs to walls.
Approved Jul 30 2008 

L13D0118 - Proposed shop conversion from Sui Generis tanning salon to A1 Sandwich 
bar with associated change to shop front, internal layout and first floor windows. 
Approved Jan 16 2014 

6. Consultations

6.1 Formal consultation, including display of site notices, has been undertaken in respect 
of the application. The following comments from statutory and non-statutory 
consultees and interested third parties have been received in relation to the original 
and amended proposals and are summarised as follows:

Neighbours and other third party comments: No objections have been received 

Worcester City Council Archaeological Officer: The application affects the ground 
floor and, in terms of archaeological impact, principally the basement. No proposals 
are made for the first or second floor or attics. The façade would certainly be 
enhanced by the replacement of the existing windows with windows more in keeping 
with the building, though that is not included within the proposals. The photographic 
survey included in the heritage statement seems to show most of the features of 
heritage significance, including the beams, cast iron columns, cellar walls, and 
partition walls to be removed in the cellar. With the exception of the last, all of these 
are understood to be retained. The impact on these should therefore be limited. The 
impact on below ground archaeological remains may be more significant. Works to 
bring the basement into use will inevitably include foundations for the new staircase, 
and excavation to provide a new floor. Although not indicated in the application, the 
headroom in the cellar may be insufficient and it could be necessary to lower the floor 
level. This area is known to have significant archaeological remains of all periods. At 
the depths affected, these are likely to be of the prehistoric or Roman periods. 

Page 84



Elsewhere in St Swithins Street, remains of Roman pits, ditches and ironworking 
hearths have been identified, as well as a Roman well incorporating evidence of a 
timber structure. I therefore recommend conditions to secure an archaeological 
watching brief during groundworks, and a rapid archaeological building record of the 
affected areas of the building, expanding on the photographs already submitted. The 
AR005 model condition includes a pre-commencement element so would need to be 
agreed with the applicant. If there are concerns about including this pre-
commencement element please refer back to me. 

Archaeological Officer – 23 March 2020: - Replacement AR005 condition, incorrectly 
worded in my comment submitted on 20 March 2020 (which included excavation). 
Please use this alternative.

Worcester City Council Landscape and Biodiversity Adviser: No objections, 
presuming there is no access to the cellar for bats

Worcester City Council – Planning Policy: Object, contrary to Policy SWDP 10 – 
‘Protection and Promotion of Centres and Local Shops’. 

Planning Policy also commented that given that this application is for a change of use 
from A1 to A3/A5, as per the Planning for Health SPD, a HIA screening is 
recommended for this proposal (in order to determine if a full HIA is required). If 
submitted, this will be referred to Worcestershire County Council’s Strategic Planning 
team and the authority’s Directorate of Public Health for comment. This officer’s 
remarks are reported below under ‘Third Party Comments’; there was no objection.
Worcester City Council - Economic Development & Regeneration: No 
comments.

Worcester City Council - Refuse and Recycling: No comments. These will be 
accommodated within the applicant’s existing arrangements.

Worcestershire County Council (Highway Authority): There is no objection in 
principle to the proposed change of use and it is noted that the site location in the City 
Centre is highly sustainable however the application description includes a new ‘front 
elevation awning’ which will be over the highway and for completeness details should 
be provided on plan particularly to confirm the height of the awning above the 
footway. The Highway Authority therefore submits a response of deferral until the 
required information has been provided and considered. 

Details of the awning were sought from the applicant and provided. It will sit 2.6m 
high, 5.5 m wide to match the shop front and extend out 1.8m. The pavement at this 
point is 2.6m wide. The awning would be fully retractable. In response, the Highway 
Authority has no objection.

Worcestershire County Council - Strategic Planning and Public Health: No
comments.

West Mercia Constabulary Crime Risk Manager: With regard to this application I 
have some concerns, These may easily be addressed. But I would seek clarification on 
the exact type of A3/A5 proposed and the proposed hours of operation. Without this 
information I cannot make an informed decision if it will impact on crime and disorder. 

Page 85



This information was obtained from the applicant and fed back to the Design Out 
Crime Team who replied on 23 April 2020 that: - Am happy to remove any objections, 
he has alcohol license until 1am in the week and 2 am weekends.

Conservation Advisory Panel: Panel members considered the application 
individually in lieu of a meeting: No objections were expressed.

6.2 Members have been given the opportunity to read all representations that have been 
received in full. At the time of writing this report no other consultation responses 
have been received. Any additional responses received will be reported to members 
verbally or in the form of a late paper, subject to the date of receipt. 

6.3 In assessing the proposal due regard has been given to local residents comments as 
material planning considerations. Nevertheless, I am also mindful that decisions 
should not be made solely on the basis of the number of representations, whether 
they are for or against a proposal. The Localism Act has not changed this, nor has it 
changed the advice that local opposition or support for a proposal is not in itself a 
ground for refusing or granting planning permission unless it is founded on valid 
planning reasons.

7. Comments of Deputy Director - Economic Development and Planning

7.1 Policy SWDP1 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan sets out overarching 
sustainable development principles and these are consistent with the Framework. 
The various impacts of the development have to be assessed and the benefit and 
adverse impacts considered, establishing whether what is proposed is sustainable 
development. Taking the above matters into account I consider the main issues 
raised by the proposal relate to the principle of development and whether the 
development would be sustainable, having regard to the 3 dimensions of 
sustainability set out in the Framework: economic, social and environmental, in 
particular with regard to:

1. The economic role;
2. The social role:

- residential amenity;

3. The environmental role:
- design and appearance;
- impact on heritage assets;
- car parking and highway safety;

    
These issues will now each be considered in turn. 

The Principle of Development

7.2 There is an objection in principle to the proposals on the grounds that it would be 
contrary to Policy SWDP 10 – ‘Protection and Promotion of Centres and Local Shops’. 
Part D of Policy SWDP 10 states that within the Primary Shopping Frontages, as 
shown on the Policies Map, change of use from retail (use class A1) or the extension 
of existing non-A1 uses into adjoining A1 premises at ground floor level will not be 
permitted.

Page 86



7.3 However, recent evidence commissioned as part of the SWDP review is 
recommending that this part of St Swithin’s Street be removed from the primary 
retail area. Furthermore, the premises had been operating as a food outlet for some 
years prior to it closing and the applicant is an existing city centre business that is 
looking to expand.

7.4 For these reasons, I consider these are material considerations that weigh in favour 
of the proposals.

7.5 Notwithstanding the above, it is appreciated that where new development is 
introduced, it is important to evaluate whether the proposals would represent a 
sustainable form of development.

  Sustainable Development 

1. The economic role

7.6 In the short term the proposal would see the creation of construction jobs for the 
construction period of the project, the provision of 5 full-time and 5 part-time jobs 
and  some on-going opportunities for the provision of goods and services. The 
proposal is also for an existing city centre business that is looking to expand to the 
benefit of the local economy. In my opinion, this weighs in favour of granting 
planning permission.

2. The social role 

7.7 The key aim is to provide a pizza restaurant with limited take away facilities in the 
existing ground floor shop. As a consequence, it has a social role which weighs 
in favour of granting planning permission. However, one must also consider the 
impact of the development on nearby residents.

Residential amenity 

7.8 The site lies opposite to residential properties located within St Swithin’s Street. 
Policy SWDP 21 requires that new development does not have a significant adverse 
effect on neighbouring amenity. This is consistent with paragraph 180 of the NPPF 
that requires planning policies and decisions, amongst other matters, to ensure a 
high standard of amenity for existing and future users of land and buildings. 

7.9 The potential impacts arising from the proposed development is capable of being a 
material planning consideration, in so far as it arises or may arise from or may affect 
any land use by the introduction of noise generating activities in proximity to noise 
sensitive land uses. The site is situated in a busy commercial environment adjacent 
to commercial and retail premises in the city centre. As such, I do have some 
concerns regarding the potential impact on standards of amenity for neighbouring 
residents in terms of the potential for noise, disturbance, and air quality. Although a 
degree of late night noise is to be anticipated for residents of such areas, 
nevertheless I consider there is a trade off between standards of amenity and the 
convenience of city centre living and future residents will be in a position to make an 
informed decision about whether to reside in the locality of the premises. However, 
this does not preclude the need to consider whether suitable measures should be 
sought to minimise potential future adverse impacts.

Page 87



7.10 In reaching this view, I note that the premises are adjacent to a busy road and that 
the local area has a number of uses that open into the late evening, and beyond. 
Consequently, a degree of late night noise is to be anticipated for residents of such 
areas particularly at weekends. While these other outlets have late night opening 
hours, the particular circumstances of these vary given factors such as evolving 
planning policy. In this regard, the NPPF recognises that residential development can 
play an important role in ensuring the vitality of centres. 

7.11 Whilst I do not consider that it would be reasonable or appropriate to apply 
conditions that would duplicate conditions more appropriately imposed through the 
pollution control or licencing regime, nevertheless I consider it would be appropriate 
to impose a condition for a business management plan to include details of the 
management of the following:-

- resolution of complaints from neighbouring residents and businesses; 
- control of noise levels; 
- control of anti-social behaviour; 
- litter; 
- service deliveries;
- access by other vehicles to the rear of the premises; 
- management of waste, including disposal and collection arrangements; 
- noise from waste disposal and recycling, and; 
- smoking facilities.

7.12 Indeed, separate premises licences will be required for the premises. In this respect 
the City Council’s adopted licensing policy states:

“The Licensing Authority recognises the variety of premises for which licences will
be sought and that fixed and artificially early closing times in certain areas can
lead to peaks of disorder and disturbance on the streets when people tend to leave
licensed premises at the same time.

When determining what licensing hours are appropriate for a premises the
Licensing Authority will always consider each application on its own merits and
will not impose predetermined licensed opening hours, without giving individual
consideration to the merits of each application. The Licensing Authority will take
into account requests for licensable hours in the light of:

· environmental quality;
· residential amenity;
· the character or function of a particular area; and
· the nature of the proposed activities to be provided at the premises.

Consideration may be given to imposing stricter restrictions on licensing hours
when it is appropriate to control noise and disturbance from particular licensed
premises, such as those in mainly residential areas.

In accordance with established practice, the Licensing Authority encourages
applicants, to include measures of good practice in their operating schedules such
as a policy of prohibiting new persons from being admitted to their premises after
11.00 pm in order to reduce the risk of disorder and disturbance to members of the
public late at night, where this is appropriate to the premises concerned.”

Page 88



7.13 In terms of the relationship to planning, the policy confirms that:

“There are circumstances when as a condition of planning permission, a terminal
hour has been set for the use of premises for commercial purposes. Where these
hours are different to the licensing hours, the applicant must observe the earlier
closing time. Premises operating in breach of their planning permission would be
liable to prosecution under planning law.”

7.14 Equally important is the noise, fumes and odours from cooking. In this respect, the 
existing ventilation and extraction equipment will be utilised. Subject to the 
recommended conditions and compliance with a business management plan I 
consider that the above measures strike an appropriate balance between the 
amenities of neighbouring residents and a need to treat the applicants on the same 
basis as similar more established traders there. In my opinion, the amenity impacts 
of the development would be adequately mitigated, particularly noting the 
associated controls that exist under separate environmental health and licensing 
regimes. 

3. The environmental role

Design and appearance 

7.15 There will be very little change to the shop front and frontage, which is less than 30 
years old and has been altered in the intervening period. In my opinion, the addition 
of the awning would be acceptable.

Impact on Heritage Assets

7.16 The site is Grade II listed building that is located within the Historic City 
Conservation Area within an archaeologically sensitive area and is also within an area 
of very rich heritage. As such, the proposals should be considered against Policies 
SWDP 6 and SWDP 24 which are consistent with the NPPF in that they seek to 
protect and enhance designated and non-designated heritage assets and guide 
against development that would cause substantial harm to the significance of any 
heritage asset. In accordance with the NPPF at Para 193, great weight must be given 
to the conservation of designated heritage assets and in accordance with s66 of the 
Planning Listed Building and Conservation Areas Act 1990, special regard is to be 
had to the desirability of preserving listed buildings or their settings. 

7.17 There is a substantial amount of planning case law regarding how a decision taker 
must address the issue of harm to heritage assets, such as listed buildings. 
Essentially, this makes it is clear that the decision maker is required to give 
considerable importance and weight to the desirability of avoiding harm to the 
heritage asset. There is accordingly a strong presumption, imposed by the Planning 
Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas Act 1990, against harmful development. 
This is the case whether the harm is ‘substantial’ or is ‘less than substantial’. 

7.18 There is no specific test in the NPPF of what differentiates substantial harm from 
other harm for the purposes of national policy. Whilst the judgments are not 
prescriptive as to where the threshold between ‘substantial’ and ‘less than 
substantial’ lies, nevertheless case law has been established that for harm to be 
substantial, the impact on significance is required to be serious such that very much, 
if not all, of the significance of the asset is eroded, for example by complete 
demolition.

Page 89



7.19 Advice has also been sought by the Local Planning Authority to assist in the 
assessment of the significance of the heritage asset, as advised by Practice 
Guidance, through consultation with the Council's Heritage and Design, Archaeology 
and Planning & Conservation Officers and the Conservation Advisory Panel. Following 
a detailed inspection of the premises I do not consider that the proposals will impact 
to any significant extent upon the historic fabric of the application site. Indeed, as 
noted above, the main impact will be: 

Internally – Ground floor

The main change will be the installation of a new timber staircase between the 
ground floor retail space and the basement. This will require the creation of a new 
opening in the floor, which is of modern construction. The existing wall lining – 
stainless steel panels and plasterboard – remaining from the previous shop fit out 
will also be removed. In its place a new preparation and seating area will be created. 
This will include a gas-fired pizza oven, which will utilise the shop’s existing 
extraction system, suitably refurbished.

Internally – Basement

A number of changes are proposed, including the installation of the new timber 
staircase from the ground floor retail space, noted above, plus the addition of a new 
w/c, which will use existing services. Tables and seating (not fixed) will also be 
added. Creation of this space will require some existing walls to be demolished; 
these include a full-height non-supporting one and a low level wall by the proposed 
base for the new staircase. The remains of an old range and hearth, uncovered in 
the basement, will be retained as a feature in its new use.

7.20 In terms of the effect on below ground deposits, the scheme has no direct 
archaeological implications, as reflected in the Archaeological Officer’s comments. 
The Archaeological Officer commented that the photographic survey included in the 
heritage statement seems to show most of the features of heritage significance, 
including the partition walls to be removed in the cellar. With the exception of the 
latter, all of these are to be retained. The impact on these should therefore be 
limited. A very comprehensive photographic survey has been submitted. This shows 
that such impacts as will be required by these proposals will not impact too greatly 
upon historic fabric. Certain archaeological conditions were recommended; these 
have been set. 

7.21 In summarising the likely effects of the proposal on heritage assets and having full 
regard to the policies in the development plan and national guidance it is assessed 
that the proposed development would have less than substantial harm to the 
significance of the designated heritage assets. Paragraph 196 of the NPPF requires a 
balancing exercise to be undertaken between the “less than substantial harm” to the 
designated heritage asset on the one hand, and the public benefits of the proposal 
on the other. Taking this into account, I am of the opinion that the impact on the 
designated heritage assets would be insufficient for the application to be refused.

Car parking and highway safety

7.22 The application site is situated within the city centre. It has limited on street parking 
in front, but there is ample public car parking nearby. It is also within walking 
distance of both railway stations and the bus station, and overall the location is 
considered to be highly sustainable. The Highway Authority has no objection to the 
proposals.

Page 90



8. Conclusion and planning balance

8.1 The NPPF identifies a series of the components that are considered critical to 
achieving sustainable development. In my opinion, the above assessment of the 
planning application proposals against the planning policy framework demonstrates 
that the application responds to, and is in accordance with, the requirements of the 
adopted planning policy within the development plan and material considerations 
relevant to the determination of the application.

8.2 Whilst the assessment is not an exhaustive list of all policies that are potentially 
applicable to this site, it seeks to address how the proposals respond to the key 
planning criteria in the planning policy framework against which the planning 
application will be determined.

8.3 With regard to the principle of the development, I consider that these proposals are 
in accordance with local policies SWDP 6; SWDP 21 and SWDP 24, and the guidance 
in the NPPF. I also note that there is an objection in principle to the proposal. 
However: -

 the premises had been operating as a food outlet for some years prior to it 
closing;

 recent evidence commissioned as part of the SWDP review is recommending that 
this part of the City Centre be removed from the primary retail area;

 the applicant is an existing city centre business that is looking to expand.

8.4 With regard to design, I consider that the proposed changes seem appropriate. 
There will be very little change to the shop front and frontage, which, as has already 
been noted, is less than 30 years old and has been altered in the intervening period. 
Regarding amenity, that proposed for the application site is acceptable, and, with the 
main seating and dining area for the proposed pizzeria being in the basement, and 
the existing use of the premise being for food retail, there should be little impact 
upon the adjoining premises, which are both retail (an opticians and a retail 
chemists) and maintain usual shop hours. Details of the proposed awning have been 
submitted and are the subject of a recommended condition.

8.5 With regard to the impact on heritage assets, the Archaeological Officer commented 
that the photographic survey included in the heritage statement seems to show most 
of the features of heritage significance, including the partition walls to be removed in 
the cellar. With the exception of the latter, all of these are to be retained. The impact 
on these should therefore be limited. A very comprehensive photographic survey has 
been submitted. This shows that such impacts as will be required by these proposals 
will not  impact too greatly upon historic fabric. Certain archaeological conditions 
were recommended; these have been set. No objections were received on Heritage 
grounds.

8.6 With regard to access and highway issues, I consider that this city centre location is 
highly sustainable; the Highway Authority has offered no objection to the proposed 
change of use. 

8.7 The proposed development would result in some economic benefits; employment 
during construction and thereafter upon the opening of the premises and it is likely 
that the enterprise would contribute towards maintaining the vitality of local services 
and facilities. For this role of sustainable development, the balance would clearly be 
in favour of granting planning permission.

Page 91



8.8 In respect of potential adverse impacts, the proposal has not generated any 
objections. However, it is considered that the proposals would not have an adverse 
impact on neighbouring residents’ amenities.
 

8.9 On balance, I am of the opinion that the submitted scheme has indicated more then 
sufficient detail to warrant approval. In fact, it is considered that the proposal is a 
well designed site utilising the full potential of the site within a sensitive location. 

8.10 I acknowledge all comments received as part of the consultation process and 
consider all material planning issues have been considered in the determination of 
this application. Having regard to the totality of the policies in the Framework, I 
consider that the proposed development is sustainable when looking at its social, 
economic and environmental credentials in the round. The adverse impacts of the 
development (taking into account the considerable importance and weight to be 
given to the less than substantial harm to the significance of the heritage assets) do 
not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits. Overall it is considered 
that the proposals constitute an environmentally, socially and economically 
sustainable form of development that accords with the Framework and the 
Development Plan as a whole.

9. Proposed Conditions for Planning Permission

9.1 In the event that members resolve to grant planning permission the following 
conditions are recommended:

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission.

Reason: To conform with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out and completed in 
accordance with the following approved plans and associated documents and the 
specifications and recommendations contained therein, except where otherwise 
stipulated by conditions attached to this permission

location
proposed front elevation
proposed basement floor plan
proposed ground floor plan
existing front elevation
existing basement plan
existing ground floor
block plan
Ground floor demolition plan 
proposed basement floor plan 
basement demolition plan
proposed ground floor plan 
Design Statement 6 St Swithins

Reason: To ensure compliance with the approved scheme

Page 92



3. No development shall take place until a written scheme of investigation (WSI) for 
archaeological building investigation and recording, and archaeological watching 
brief, has been submitted to and approved by the local planning authority in 
writing. For land that is included within the WSI, no development shall take place 
other than in accordance with the agreed WSI, which shall include the statement 
of significance and research objectives, and the programme and methodology of 
site investigation and recording and the nomination of a competent person(s) or 
organisation to undertake the agreed works. The programme for post investigation 
assessment and subsequent analysis, publication and  dissemination and 
deposition of resulting material. This part of the condition shall not be discharged 
until these elements have been fulfilled in accordance with the programme set out 
in the WSI.

For the following reason:-

To allow the historical and archaeological potential of the building to be recorded 
in accordance with policies SWDP 6 and SWDP 24 of the South Worcestershire 
Development Plan and aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

4. Notwithstanding any details shown on the submitted plans groundworks and 
foundations shall be constructed in accordance with details to be agreed in writing 
by the local planning authority before ground disturbance commences.

For the following reason:-

To preserve the archaeological interest of the site in accordance with policies 
SWDP 6 and SWDP 24 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan and aims 
and objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework.

5. No building operations hereby permitted shall commence until details of the 
proposed external awning hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority. The details to be submitted shall 
include:-

 overall dimensions;
 materials;
 means of attachment;
 means of opening and closing;
 height of the attachment to the building above the pavement;
 width from the front of the building when fully extended open, and;
 height above the pavement of the front of the awning when fully open

The development shall be carried out using the materials as approved.  

Reason: To protect, conserve and enhance the significance of heritage assets and 
to ensure that the new materials are in keeping with the surroundings and/or 
represent quality design in accordance with policies SWDP 6, SWDP 21 and SWDP 
24 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan.

6. The development hereby permitted shall not be open to customers outside the 
following hours:-

09:00 to 22:00 on weekdays and 09:00 to 23:30 at weekends

Page 93



Deliveries to, and collections from, the development shall not be made outside the 
following hours:-

09:00 to 22:00 on weekdays and 09:00 to 23:30 at weekends

Reason:- To ensure the proposal preserves residential amenity and to prevent 
unacceptable noise pollution to the detriment of human health contrary to policy 
SWDP 31 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan.

7. Before operations shall commence a business management plan will be submitted 
in writing and agreed by the local planning authority. This will include details of 
the management of the following:

- cctv;
- resolution of complaints from neighbouring residents and businesses;
- control of noise levels;
- control of anti-social behaviour;
- litter;
- service deliveries;
- management of waste, including disposal and collection arrangements;
- noise from waste disposal and recycling, and;
- smoking facilities.

Reason:-

To safeguard the amenities of neighbouring residents in accordance with policies 
SWDP 9 and SWDP 21 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan and the 
aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework in this regard.

10.  Proposed Conditions for Listed Building Consent

10.1 In the event that members resolve to grant listed building consent the following 
conditions are recommended:

1. The works to which this Listed Building Consent relates must be commenced 
before the expiration of three years beginning with the date of this consent.

Reason: To conform with the requirements of Section 18 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. The works hereby permitted shall be carried out and completed in accordance with 
the following approved plans and associated documents and the specifications and 
recommendations contained therein, except where otherwise stipulated by 
conditions attached to this permission

location
proposed front elevation
proposed basement floor plan
proposed ground floor plan
existing front elevation
existing basement plan

Page 94



existing ground floor
block plan
Ground floor demolition plan 
proposed basement floor plan 
basement demolition plan
proposed ground floor plan 
Design Statement 6 St Swithins

Reason: To ensure compliance with the approved scheme

3. No works shall take place until a written scheme of investigation (WSI) for 
archaeological building investigation and recording, and archaeological watching 
brief, has been submitted to and approved by the local planning authority in 
writing. For land that is included within the WSI, no development shall take place 
other than in accordance with the agreed WSI, which shall include the statement 
of significance and research objectives, and the programme and methodology of 
site investigation and recording and the nomination of a competent person(s) or 
organisation to undertake the agreed works. The programme for post investigation 
assessment and subsequent analysis, publication and  dissemination and 
deposition of resulting material. This part of the condition shall not be discharged 
until these elements have been fulfilled in accordance with the programme set out 
in the WSI.

Reason:-

To allow the historical and archaeological potential of the building to be recorded 
in accordance with policies SWDP 6 and SWDP 24 of the South Worcestershire 
Development Plan and aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

4. Notwithstanding any details shown on the submitted plans groundworks and 
foundations shall be constructed in accordance with details to be agreed in writing 
by the local planning authority before ground disturbance commences.

Reason:-

To preserve the archaeological interest of the site in accordance with policies 
SWDP 6 and SWDP 24 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan and aims 
and objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework.

5. No building operations hereby permitted shall commence until details of the 
proposed external awning hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority. The details to be submitted shall 
include:-

 overall dimensions;
 materials;
 means of attachment;
 means of opening and closing;
 height of the attachment to the building above the pavement;
 width from the front of the building when fully extended open, and;
 height above the pavement of the front of the awning when fully open

The works shall be carried out using the materials as approved.  

Page 95



Reason: To protect, conserve and enhance the significance of heritage assets and 
to ensure that the new materials are in keeping with the surroundings and/or 
represent quality design in accordance with policies SWDP 6 and SWDP 24 of the 
South Worcestershire Development Plan.

Page 96



Report to: Planning Committee, 21st May 2020

Report of: Deputy Director – Economic Development and Planning

Subject: AMENDMENT OF THE PROCEDURE FOR RECEIVING LATE PAPERS 

1. Recommendation

1.1 That Planning Committee agree the amendments to the procedure for 
receiving late papers prior to Planning Committee as set out in paragraph 
3.1.

2. Background

2.1 Currently anyone is able to make further representations to a planning application 
following the publication of the Planning Committee agenda.  These representations 
need to be received by no later than 4pm on the day before the Planning Committee 
and are then circulated to Members as a late paper.

2.2 On occasions, Members have found it difficult to read and digest the information 
sufficiently within the time available to them prior to the meeting.  This is a 
particular issue where the information is long, complex or technical in nature, or 
where a significant number of representations have been received.

3. Preferred Option 

3.1 The preferred approach is to bring the deadline forward to 4pm THREE days prior to 
the date of the Planning Committee.  This will enable officers to produce the late 
paper and circulate it to Members for their consideration at least 24 hours prior to 
the committee taking place.

3.2 This will also provide Members with an opportunity to speak to the planning officers 
about the information contained within the paper if they have any queries.

3.3 If approved, the amendment to the procedure will be published on the Planning 
pages of the City Council’s web-site.  Officers will also inform agents and applicants 
of the change.   

4. Alternative Options Considered

4.1 One alternative option is to not allow any additional representations or additional 
information to be submitted once the agenda has been published.  A benefit of this 
option is that the attentions of those with an interest in planning applications will be 
focused to respond promptly and provide the information within an appropriate 
timescale.

Page 97 Agenda Item 9



4.2 However, a consequence of this approach is that some applications will inevitably be 
delayed if any required additional information is not provided before the deadline for 
agenda publication, with additional extensions of time potentially being required.  It 
will also reduce the time available for local residents to make any additional 
representations. 

5. Implications

5.1 Financial and Budgetary Implications
None 

5.2 Legal and Governance Implications
None

5.3 Risk Implications
None

5.4 Corporate/Policy Implications
None

5.5 Equality Implications
None

5.6 Human Resources Implications
None

5.7 Health and Safety Implications
None

5.8 Social, Environmental and Economic Implications
None

Ward(s): All
Contact Officer: Philippa Smith; 
Email: philippa.Smith@worcester.gov.uk; 
Tel: 01905 722527
Background Papers: None 

Page 98

mailto:philippa.Smith@worcester.gov.uk

	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Planning Committee
	4 Minutes of Previous Conservation Advisory Panel
	7 Application 19/00820/FUL - Land at Hindlip Lane
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	8 Applications 20/00081/CU and 20/00095/LB - 6 St Swithin's Street
	9 Amendment of the Procedure for Receiving Late Papers

